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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited).
iBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In Thousands, except share and per share amounts)
March 31,
2022
(Unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable - trade
Settlement receivable - current portion
Investments in debt securities
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total Current Assets

$

Restricted cash
Convertible promissory note receivable and accrued interest
Settlement receivable - noncurrent portion
Finance lease right-of-use assets, net of accumulated amortization
Operating lease right-of-use asset
Fixed assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization
Investment in equity security - at cost
Prepaid expenses - noncurrent
Security deposits
Total Assets

$

Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses (related party of $0 and $701 as of March 31, 2022 and June 30, 2021, respectively)
Finance lease obligations - current portion
Operating lease obligation - current portion
Note payable - PPP loan - current portion
Contract liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

$

Finance lease obligations - net of current portion
Operating lease obligation - net of current portion
Term note payable - net of deferred financing costs
Total Liabilities
Equity
iBio, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity:
Common stock - $0.001 par value; 275,000,000 shares authorized at March 31, 2022 and June 30, 2021; 218,165,624 and 217,873,094 shares issued and outstanding as of March
31, 2022 and June 30, 2021, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total iBio, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity
Noncontrolling interest
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

June 30,
2021
(See Note 2)

33,767
1,004
5,100
14,813
3,283
2,349
60,316
5,941
1,612
—
86
5,151
34,581
4,919
1,760
975
29
115,370

5,279
2,939
45
10
—
8
8,281

$

$

$

77,404
426
5,100
19,570
27
2,070
104,597
—
1,556
5,100
26,111
—
8,628
952
—
—
24
146,968

2,254
3,001
367
—
600
423
6,645

41
5,548
22,120

31,755
—
—

35,990

38,400

218
286,232
(194)
(206,876)
79,380
—
79,380
115,370

217
282,058
(63)
(173,627)
108,585
(17)
108,568
146,968

$
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iBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(Unaudited; in Thousands, except per share amounts)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022
Revenues

$

1,943

Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative (related party of $0, $491, $250 and $1,394)
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (related party of $0, $610, $810 and $1,836)
Interest income
Royalty income
Forgiveness of note payable and accrued interest - SBA loan
Other
Total other (expense)
Consolidated net loss
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net loss attributable to iBio, Inc.
Preferred stock dividends
Net loss attributable to iBio, Inc. stockholders
Comprehensive loss:
Consolidated net loss
Other comprehensive loss - unrealized loss on debt securities
Comprehensive loss
Loss per common share attributable to iBio, Inc. stockholders - basic and diluted

$

2022
765

$

2021
2,322

$

1,880

48

493

201

1,275

1,895

272

2,121

605

5,551
8,526
14,077

2,162
5,313
7,475

11,393
23,522
34,915

6,892
15,385
22,277

(12,182)

(7,203)

(32,794)

(21,672)

(250)
40
2
—
—
(208)

(612)
152
1
—
—
(459)

(1,187)
111
7
607
6
(456)

(1,841)
183
3
—
—
(1,655)

(12,390)
—
(12,390)

(7,662)
1
(7,661)

(33,250)
1
(33,249)

(23,327)
4
(23,323)

—
(12,390)

$

Nine Months Ended
March 31,
2021

$

(64)
(7,725)

$

(88)
(33,337)

$

(195)
(23,518)

$

(12,390)
(103)

$

(7,662)
(16)

$

(33,250)
(131)

$

(23,327)
(36)

$

(12,493)

$

(7,678)

$

(33,381)

$

(23,363)

$

(0.06)

$

(0.04)

$

(0.15)

$

(0.12)

218,096

Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic and diluted

215,539

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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217,986

188,493
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iBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Equity
(Unaudited; in thousands)
Nine Months Ended March 31, 2022

Balance as of July 1, 2021

Preferred Stock
Shares
Amount
— $
—

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
217,873 $
217

Additional
Paid-In
Capital
$
282,058

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss
$

(63)

$

Accumulated
Deficit
(173,627)

Noncontrolling
Interest
$

(17) $

Total
108,568

Exercise of stock options

—

—

85

—

77

—

—

—

77

Share-based compensation

—

—

—

—

821

—

—

—

821

Unrealized loss on debt securities

—

—

—

—

—

(1)

—

—

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

Balance as of September 30, 2021

—

—

217,958

Vesting of RSUs

—

—

103

1

Warrant issued for Transaction

—

—

—

—

Acquisition of remaining portion of iBio CDMO

—

—

—

—

Share-based compensation

—

—

—

—

1,103

Unrealized loss on debt securities

—

—

—

—

—

(27)

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

Balance as of December 31, 2021

—

—

218,061

Vesting of RSUs

—

—

105

—

1

—

—

—

1

Share-based compensation

—

—

—

—

1,274

—

—

—

1,274

Unrealized loss on debt securities

—

—

—

—

—

(103)

—

—

(103)

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(12,390)

Balance as of March 31, 2022

—

—

218,166

$

$

$

$

$

$

217

218

218

$

282,956

$

(1)

$

$

(64) $

(182,566) $

(1)

(1)

(8,940)

(18) $

100,525

—

—

—

—

967

—

—

—

967

(68)

—

—

18

—

—

—

—

—

(27)

—

(11,920)

284,957

286,232

$

$

(91) $

(194) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(8,939)

(11,920)
(194,486) $

(12,390)
(206,876) $

—

—

(50)
1,103

$

$

90,598

79,380
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iBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Equity
(Unaudited; in thousands)
Nine Months Ended March 31, 2021

Balance as of July 1, 2020

Preferred Stock
Shares
Amount
6 $
—

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
140,071 $
140

Additional
Paid-In
Capital
$
206,931

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss
$

(33)

$

Accumulated
Deficit
(150,420)

Noncontrolling
Interest
$

(11) $

Total
56,607

Capital raises

—

—

11,292

11

32,111

—

—

—

32,122

Costs to raise capital

—

—

—

—

(1,525)

—

—

—

(1,525)

Exercise of stock options

—

—

30

—

28

—

—

—

Conversion of preferred stock to common stock

(6)

—

28,925

29

(29)

—

—

—

—

Share-based compensation

—

—

—

—

351

—

—

—

351

Unrealized loss on debt securities

—

—

—

—

—

(7)

—

—

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

Balance as of September 30, 2020

—

—

180,318

Capital raise

—

—

31,451

32

38,243

—

—

—

38,275

Cost to raise capital

—

—

—

—

(3,117)

—

—

—

(3,117)

Share-based compensation

—

—

—

—

265

—

—

—

Unrealized loss on debt securities

—

—

—

—

—

(13)

—

—

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

Balance as of December 31, 2020

—

—

211,769

Capital raise

—

—

4,354

4

—

—

—

Cost to raise capital

—

—

10

—

(71)

—

—

—

Exercise of stock options

—

—

—

—

1

—

—

—

1

Share-based compensation

—

—

—

—

374

—

—

—

374

Foreign currency translation adjustment

—

—

—

—

—

(1)

—

—

(1)

Unrealized loss on debt securities

—

—

—

—

—

(16)

—

—

(16)

Net loss

—

Balance as of March 31, 2021

—

$

$

$

—

—

—

216,133

$

$

180

212

$

$

216

273,258

$

$

4,880

—
$

237,867

—
$

278,442

(40) $

(53) $

—
$

(70) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(7,533)
(157,953) $

(8,129)
(166,082) $

(7,661)
(173,743) $

(1)
(12) $

(2)
(14) $

(1)
(15) $

28

(7)
(7,534)
80,042

265
(13)
(8,131)
107,321
4,884
(71)

(7,662)
104,830
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iBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited; in Thousands)
Nine Months Ended
March 31,
2022
Cash flows from operating activities:
Consolidated net loss
Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Share-based compensation
Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of finance lease right-of-use assets
Amortization of operating lease right-of-use assets
Depreciation of fixed assets
Accrued interest receivable on convertible promissory note receivable
Amortization of premiums on debt securities
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Forgiveness of note payable and accrued interest - SBA loan
Settlement of revenue contract
Reserve for loss on contract
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable – trade
Accounts receivable – other
Settlement receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Prepaid expenses - noncurrent
Security deposit
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Operating lease obligations
Contract liabilities

$

Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of debt securities
Redemption of debt securities
Purchase of equity security
Additions to intangible assets
Purchases of fixed assets
Issuance of note receivable
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of finance lease obligation
Proceeds from sales of preferred and common stock
Proceeds from subscription receivable
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Cost to attain term note
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest
Costs to raise capital
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents - beginning
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - end

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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2021

(33,250)

$

(23,327)

3,198
333
587
386
1,532
(56)
269
67
(607)
(84)
—

990
218
1,236
—
330
(37)
130
—
—
—
300

(890)
—
5,100
(3,257)
(494)
(975)
(5)
1,649
618
(12)
(86)

(312)
(1)
—
366
(2,247)
—
—
(303)
743
—
(924)

(25,977)

(22,838)

(5,355)
9,711
(1,760)
(4,300)
(3,900)
—

(20,963)
1,500
—
(201)
(2,406)
(1,500)

(5,604)

(23,570)

(5,820)
—
—
77
(322)
(50)
—

(223)
75,281
5,549
29
—
—
(4,713)

(6,115)

75,923

(37,696)
77,404
39,708

$

29,515
55,112
84,627
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iBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited; in Thousands)
Nine Months Ended
March 31,
2022

2021

Schedule of non-cash activities:
Increase in ROU operating assets and liabilities for new leases
Fixed assets included in accounts payable in prior period, paid in current period
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale debt securities
Lease incentive for construction in progress
Unpaid fixed assets included in accounts payable
Termination of finance ROU assets including issuance of warrant
Note payable to acquire Facility
Issuance of warrant for final finance lease obligation payment
Unpaid intangible assets included in accounts payable
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest
Settlement of revenue contract
Conversion of preferred stock shares into common stock

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

5,570
791
131
82
2,193
25,386
22,375
217
—
18
580
—

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

—
—
36
—
943
—
—
—
19
—
—
29

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for interest

$

860

$

1,839

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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iBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)
1. Nature of Business
iBio, Inc. (“we”, “us”, “our”, “iBio”, “iBio, Inc” or the “Company”) is a developer of next-generation biopharmaceuticals and the pioneer of the sustainable FastPharming® Manufacturing System. The Company is applying its
technologies to research and develop novel product candidates to treat or prevent fibrotic diseases, cancers, and infectious diseases. The Company is using its FastPharming Manufacturing System (“FastPharming” or the
“FastPharming System”) and GlycaneeringSM Services to help rapidly and cost effectively build a portfolio of biologic drug candidates, as well as to create proteins for others by contract or via the Company’s catalog.
The FastPharming System is the Company’s proprietary approach to plant-made pharmaceutical and recombinant protein production. It uses hydroponically grown, transiently-transfected plants, (typically Nicotiana benthamiana, a
relative of the tobacco plant), novel expression vectors, a large-scale transient transfection method, and other technologies that can be used to produce complex therapeutic proteins emerging from our own, our clients’ and our potential
clients’ pipelines. The Company believes the FastPharming System enables biologics production that is potentially faster, more cost-effective and more environmentally friendly than other approaches.
The Company operates in two categories: (i) Biopharmaceuticals: its biologics development and licensing segment which is focused on drug development in two primary areas: Therapeutics (currently Fibrosis and Oncology) and
Vaccines (for humans and animals), and (ii) Bioprocessing: focused on two business lines: Services and Research & Bioprocess Products (“RBP”).
Biopharmaceuticals:
The Company is currently focused on developing candidates in the following disease areas:
Fibrotic Diseases
Fibrosis is a pathological disorder in which connective tissue replaces normal parenchymal tissue to the extent that it goes unchecked, leading to considerable tissue remodeling and the formation of permanent scar tissue.
Fibrosis can occur in many tissues within the body, including the lungs (e.g., idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (“IPF”) and skin (e.g., systemic scleroderma). The Company’s endostatin E4 molecule, IBIO-100, is being evaluated
for fibrotic diseases.
Oncology
iBio’s oncology efforts seek to identify therapeutics to aid in the treatment of cancer. Although there are a large number of cancer treatments available, there are few cures, and significant unmet medical need still exists for
most types of cancer for improved treatments. Cancer remains the second most frequent cause of death worldwide. New research in oncology, especially that related to means to boost or support the patient’s immune system, is
leading to a number of new treatments and new research programs with the potential to further improve cancer therapies. The Company’s IL-2 sparing anti-CD25 antibody, IBIO-101, is being evaluated in the treatment of solid
tumors. Further, the Company’s endostatin E4 molecule, IBIO-100, is being evaluated in solid tumors. In addition, the Company has four additional oncology drug candidates in early development. The targets for these
candidates have not been disclosed.
iBio’s Glycaneering Technology enables the development of afucosylated recombinant proteins. Greater antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity (“ADCC”) is often associated with such afucosylated proteins. Thus, iBio’s
Glycaneering Services can be used by the Company or its clients to potentially develop more potent cancer therapies.
Infectious Disease
Human Health: SARS-CoV-2
Coronavirus disease 2019 is an infectious disease caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) (“COVID”). It was first identified in December 2019 in Wuhan, Hubei, China, and has resulted
in an ongoing pandemic. Common symptoms include fever, cough, fatigue, shortness of breath or breathing difficulties, and loss of smell and taste. Some people develop acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), possibly
precipitated by cytokine dysregulation, multi-organ failure, septic shock, and blood clots. The Company’s nucleocapsid, antigen-based, intramuscularly delivered vaccine candidate, IBIO-202. Following review of its
investigational new drug (“IND”) submission to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) in January, the Company is moving forward with IND-enabling challenge studies for IBIO-202.
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Animal Health: Classical Swine Fever
Classical swine fever (“CSF”) is a contagious, often fatal disease affecting both feral and domesticated pigs. Outbreaks in Europe, Asia, Africa, and South America have not only adversely impacted animal health and food
security but have also had severe socioeconomic impacts on both the pig industry worldwide and small-scale pig farming. Currently available vaccines can be efficient at triggering rapid animal immune response and
protecting swine populations when combined with culling of infected pigs, but do not allow the differentiation of infected from vaccinated animals (“DIVA”), nor are they approved for use in the United States. The
development of fully approved, DIVA-compatible, and efficacious vaccines represents an opportunity to prevent the economic impacts of a CSF outbreak including supply disruptions, export restrictions and reduced food
security. The Company’s E2 protein subunit candidate, IBIO-400, is being evaluated as a vaccine to prevent CSF.
iBio’s current portfolio of products consists of the following:

Bioprocessing:
Services
iBio utilizes its FastPharming and Glycaneering intellectual property, Bioanalytics and process development capabilities, and cGMP manufacturing facility to provide development and manufacturing services on a contract
basis.
Research & Bioprocess Products
iBio is developing proteins for use in cutting-edge research and cGMP manufacturing where the demand for high-quality products continues to evolve. The Company offers recombinant proteins for third parties on a catalog
and custom basis. These catalog products can lead to opportunities to provide CDMO services or identify in-licensing opportunities for our proprietary biotech pipeline.
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2. Basis of Presentation
Interim Financial Statements
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared from the books and records of the Company and include all normal and recurring adjustments which, in the opinion of management, are
necessary for a fair presentation in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and Rule 8-03 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Accordingly, these interim financial statements do not include all of the information and footnotes required for complete annual financial statements. Interim results are not necessarily
indicative of the results that may be expected for the full year. Interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and the notes thereto included in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2021, filed with the SEC on September 28, 2021, from which the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet dated June 30, 2021, was derived.
Principles of Consolidation
The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries. Subsequent to November 1, 2021, all subsidiaries were wholly-owned. See Note 5 below.
All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated as part of the consolidation.
Liquidity
In the past, the history of significant losses, the negative cash flow from operations, the limited cash resources on hand and the dependence by the Company on its ability – about which there was uncertainty – to obtain additional
financing to fund its operations after the current cash resources are exhausted raised substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on management projections and on the total cash and cash
equivalents plus investments in debt securities of approximately $48.6 million excluding restricted cash of $5.9 million as of March 31, 2022, management believes the Company has adequate cash to support the Company’s activities
through at least September 30, 2023.
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 3 of the Notes to Financial Statements in the Annual Report.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates include liquidity assertions, the discount rate utilized in lease accounting models, the valuation of
intellectual property, legal and contractual contingencies and share-based compensation. Although management bases its estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, actual results could differ from these estimates.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances net of allowances for uncollectible accounts. We provide for allowances for uncollectible receivables based on our estimate of uncollectible amounts
considering age, collection history, and other factors considered appropriate. Our policy is to write off accounts receivable against the allowance for doubtful accounts when a balance is determined to be uncollectible. At
March 31, 2022, and June 30, 2021, the Company determined that an allowance for doubtful accounts was not needed.
Revenue Recognition
The Company accounts for its revenue recognition under Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Under this standard, the Company recognizes revenue when a customer obtains
control of promised services or goods in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. In addition, the standard requires disclosure of the nature, amount,
timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts.
The Company’s contract revenue consists primarily of amounts earned under contracts with third-party customers and reimbursed expenses under such contracts. The Company analyzes its agreements to determine whether the
elements can be separated and accounted for individually or as a single unit of accounting. Allocation of revenue to individual elements that qualify for separate accounting is
11
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based on the separate selling prices determined for each component, and total contract consideration is then allocated pro rata across the components of the arrangement. If separate selling prices are not available, the Company will use
its best estimate of such selling prices, consistent with the overall pricing strategy and after consideration of relevant market factors.
In general, the Company applies the following steps when recognizing revenue from contracts with customers: (i) identify the contract, (ii) identify the performance obligations, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the
transaction price to the performance obligations and (v) recognize revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied. The nature of the Company’s contracts with customers generally falls within the three key elements of the
Company’s business plan: CDMO Facility Activities; Product Candidate Pipeline, and Facility Design and Build-out /Technology Transfer services.
Recognition of revenue is driven by satisfaction of the performance obligations using one of two methods: revenue is either recognized over time or at a point in time. Contracts containing multiple performance obligations classify
those performance obligations into separate units of accounting either as standalone or combined units of accounting. For those performance obligations treated as a standalone unit of accounting, revenue is generally recognized based
on the method appropriate for each standalone unit. For those performance obligations treated as a combined unit of accounting, revenue is generally recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied, which generally occurs
when control of the goods or services have been transferred to the customer or client or once the client or customer is able to direct the use of those goods and/or services as well as obtaining substantially all of its benefits. As such,
revenue for a combined unit of accounting is generally recognized based on the method appropriate for the last delivered item but due to the specific nature of certain project and contract items, management may determine an
alternative revenue recognition method as appropriate, such as a contract whereby one deliverable in the arrangement clearly comprises the overwhelming majority of the value of the overall combined unit of accounting. Under this
circumstance, management may determine revenue recognition for the combined unit of accounting based on the revenue recognition guidance otherwise applicable to the predominant deliverable.
If a loss on a contract is anticipated, such loss is recognized in its entirety when the loss becomes evident. When the current estimates of the amount of consideration that is expected to be received in exchange for transferring promised
goods or services to the customer indicates a loss will be incurred, a provision for the entire loss on the contract is made. At March 31, 2022, and June 30, 2021, the Company had no contract loss provisions.
The Company generates (or may generate in the future) contract revenue under the following types of contracts:
Fixed-Fee
Under a fixed-fee contract, the Company charges a fixed agreed upon amount for a deliverable. Fixed-fee contracts have fixed deliverables upon completion of the project. Typically, the Company recognizes revenue for fixed-fee
contracts after projects are completed, delivery is made and title transfers to the customer, and collection is reasonably assured.
Revenue can be recognized either 1) over time or 2) at a point in time. All revenue was recognized at a point in time for all periods presented.
Time and Materials
Under a time and materials contract, the Company charges customers an hourly rate plus reimbursement for other project specific costs. The Company recognizes revenue for time and material contracts based on the number of hours
devoted to the project multiplied by the customer’s billing rate plus other project specific costs incurred.
Contract Assets
A contract asset is an entity’s right to payment for goods and services already transferred to a customer if that right to payment is conditional on something other than the passage of time. Generally, an entity will recognize a contract
asset when it has fulfilled a contract obligation but must perform other obligations before being entitled to payment.
Contract assets consist primarily of the cost of project contract work performed by third parties for which the Company expects to recognize any related revenue at a later date, upon satisfaction of the contract obligations. At both
March 31, 2022, and June 30, 2021, contract assets were $0.
Contract Liabilities
A contract liability is an entity’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer at the earlier of (1) when the customer prepays consideration or (2) the time that the customer’s consideration is due for goods and services the
entity will yet provide. Generally, an entity will recognize a contract liability when it receives a prepayment.
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Contract liabilities consist primarily of consideration received, usually in the form of payment, on project work to be performed whereby the Company expects to recognize any related revenue at a later date, upon satisfaction of the
contract obligations. At March 31, 2022 and June 30, 2021, contract liabilities were $8,000 and $423,000 respectively. The Company recognized revenue of $52,000 and $178,000 during the three and nine months ended March 31,
2022, respectively, that was included in the contract liabilities balance as of June 30, 2021. The Company recognized revenue of $388,000 and $887,000 during the three and nine months ended March 31, 2021, respectively, that was
included in the contract liabilities balance as of June 30, 2020.
Leases
The Company accounts for leases under the guidance of Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 842, "Leases" ("ASC 842"). The standard established a right-of-use (“ROU”) model requiring a lessee to record a ROU asset and a
lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months and classified as either an operating or finance lease. The adoption of ASC 842 had a significant effect on the Company’s balance sheet, resulting in an
increase in non-current assets and both current and non-current liabilities.
As the Company elected to adopt ASC 842 at the beginning of the period of adoption (July 1, 2019), the Company recorded the ROU and finance lease obligation as follows:
1.

ROU asset measured at the carrying amount of the leased assets under Topic 840.

2.

Finance lease liability measured at the carrying amount of the capital lease obligation under Topic 840 at the beginning of the period of adoption.

The Company elected the package of practical expedients as permitted under the transition guidance, which allowed it: (1) to carry forward the historical lease classification; (2) not to reassess whether expired or existing contracts are
or contain leases; and (3) not to reassess the treatment of initial direct costs for existing leases.
In accordance with ASC 842, at the inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease based on the unique facts and circumstances present and the classification of the lease including
whether the contract involves the use of a distinct identified asset, whether the Company obtains the right to substantially all the economic benefit from the use of the asset, and whether the Company has the right to direct the use of the
asset. Leases with a term greater than one year are recognized on the balance sheet as ROU assets, lease liabilities and, if applicable, long-term lease liabilities. The Company has elected not to recognize on the balance sheet leases with
terms of one year or less under practical expedient in paragraph ASC 842-20-25-2. For contracts with lease and non-lease components, the Company has elected not to allocate the contract consideration and to account for the lease and
non-lease components as a single lease component.
The lease liabilities and the corresponding ROU assets are recorded based on the present value of lease payments over the expected remaining lease term. The implicit rate within the Company’s existing finance (capital) lease was
determinable and, therefore, used at the adoption date of ASC 842 to determine the present value of lease payments under the finance lease. The implicit rate within the Company’s operating lease was not determinable and, therefore,
the Company used the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date to determine the present value of lease payments. The determination of the Company’s incremental borrowing rate requires judgment. The Company
will determine the incremental borrowing rate for each new lease using its estimated borrowing rate.
An option to extend the lease is considered in connection with determining the ROU asset and lease liability when it is reasonably certain the Company will exercise that option. An option to terminate is considered unless it is
reasonably certain the Company will not exercise the option.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
The Company considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents at March 31, 2022 and June 30, 2021 consisted of money market accounts.
Restricted cash consists of collateral held for letters of credit obtained related to the term note payable for the purchase of the 130,000 square foot cGMP manufacturing facility in Bryan, Texas located at 8800 HSC Parkway, Bryan,
Texas 77807 (the “Facility”) (see Note 5) and the San Diego operating lease (see Note 14). Restricted cash was $5,941,000 and $0 at March 31, 2022 and June 30, 2021, respectively.
The following table summarizes the components of total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash in the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):
March 31,
2022
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Cash and equivalents
Collateral held for letter of credit - term note payable
Collateral held for letter of credit - San Diego lease
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

33,767
5,743
198
39,708

$

$

77,404
—
—

$

77,404

Investments in Debt Securities
Debt investments are classified as available-for-sale. Changes in fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss). Fair value is calculated based on publicly available market information. Discounts and/or premiums paid
when the debt securities are acquired are amortized to interest income over the terms of the debt securities.
Investment in Equity Security
The Company applies the cost method for its investment in equity securities. Under the cost method, the investment is recorded at cost, with gains and losses recognized as of the sale date, and income recorded when received. The
Company reviews the carrying value of its equity security for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate the carrying amount of such asset may not be fully recoverable. Impairments, if any, are based
on the excess of the carrying amount over the recoverable amount of the asset. There were no impairments during the nine months ended March 31, 2022.
Inventory
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value on the first-in, first-out basis. Inventory consists of the following (table in thousands):
March 31,
2022
Raw materials
Work in process

June 30,
2021

$

3,283

$

3,283

$

—

$

27
27

—

Research and Development
The Company accounts for research and development costs in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) ASC 730-10, Research and Development (“ASC 730-10”). Under ASC 730-10, all research and
development costs must be charged to expense as incurred. Accordingly, internal research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Third-party research and development costs are expensed when the contracted work has been
performed or as milestone results have been achieved.
Fixed Assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from three to 39 years.
Intangible Assets
The Company accounts for intangible assets at either their historical cost or allocated purchase price at asset acquisition and records amortization utilizing the straight-line method based upon their estimated useful lives. Patents are
amortized over a period of 10 years and other intellectual property is amortized over a period from 16 to 23 years. The Company reviews the carrying value of its intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in business
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable. Evaluating for impairment requires judgment, and recoverability is assessed by comparing the projected undiscounted net cash flows of the assets
over the remaining useful life to the carrying amount. Impairments, if any, are based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the assets. There were no impairment charges for the nine months ended March 31, 2022
and 2021
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Share-based Compensation
The Company recognizes the cost of all share-based payment transactions at fair value. Compensation cost, measured by the fair value of the equity instruments issued, adjusted for estimated forfeitures, is recognized in the financial
statements as the respective awards are earned over the performance or service period. The Company uses historical data to estimate forfeiture rates.
The impact that share-based payment awards will have on the Company’s results of operations is a function of the number of shares awarded, the trading price of the Company’s stock at the date of grant or modification, the vesting
schedule and forfeitures. Furthermore, the application of the Black-Scholes option pricing model employs weighted-average assumptions for expected volatility of the Company’s stock, expected term until exercise of the options, the
risk-free interest rate, and dividends, if any, to determine fair value.
Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”’); the expected term until exercise represents the weighted-average period of time that options
granted are expected to be outstanding giving consideration to vesting schedules and the Company’s historical exercise patterns; and the risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for
periods corresponding with the expected life of the option. The Company has not paid any dividends since its inception and does not anticipate paying any dividends for the foreseeable future, so the dividend yield is assumed to be
zero. In addition, the Company estimates forfeitures at each reporting period, rather than electing to record the impact of such forfeitures as they occur. See Note 17 - Share-Based Compensation for additional information.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
Cash
The Company maintains principally all cash balances in two financial institutions which, at times, may exceed the insured amounts. The exposure to the Company is solely dependent upon daily balances and the strength of the
financial institutions. The Company has not incurred any losses on these accounts. At March 31, 2022, and June 30, 2021, amounts in excess of insured limits were approximately $19,233,000 and $27,013,000, respectively.
Revenue
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company generated 100% of its revenue from three customers with one customer accounting for approximately 93% of revenue related to a licensing agreement (see Note 18).
During the three months ended March 31, 2021, the Company generated 100% of revenue from three customers with one customer accounting for approximately 92% of revenue.
During the nine months ended March 31, 2022, the Company generated 100% of its revenue from eight customers with one customer accounting for approximately 78% of revenue related to a licensing agreement (see Note 18).
During the nine months ended March 31, 2021, the Company generated 100% of its revenue from four customers accounting for approximately 47%, 27%, 15% and 11% of revenue.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”), which requires an entity to assess impairment of its financial
instruments based on its estimate of expected credit losses. Since the issuance of ASU 2016-13, the FASB released several amendments to improve and clarify the implementation guidance. In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU
2019-10, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates, which amended the effective date of the various topics. As the Company is a smaller
reporting company, the provisions of ASU 2016-13 and the related amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2022 (quarter ending September 30, 2023, for
the Company). Entities are required to apply these changes through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. The Company will evaluate the
impact of ASU 2016-13 on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements in a future period closer to the date of adoption.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (“ASU 2019-12”) to reduce the cost and complexity in accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions related to
the approach for intra-period tax allocation, the methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period, and the recognition of deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences. ASU 2019-12 also amends other aspects of the
guidance to help simplify and promote consistent application of U.S. GAAP. The guidance is effective for fiscal years and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020 (quarter ending September 30,
2021, for the Company), with early adoption permitted. An entity that elects early adoption must adopt all the amendments in the same period. Most amendments within ASU 2019-12 are required to be applied on a prospective basis,
while
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certain amendments must be applied on a retrospective or modified retrospective basis. The adoption of ASU 2019-12 did not have a significant impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.
Management does not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting standard if currently adopted would have a material effect on the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements. Most of the
newer standards issued represent technical corrections to the accounting literature or application to specific industries which have no effect on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.
4. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and term note payable in the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets approximated their fair values as of
March 31, 2022, and June 30, 2021 due to their short-term nature. The carrying value of the convertible promissory note receivable, the term note payable and finance lease obligation approximated fair value as of March 31, 2022, and
June 30, 2021 as the interest rates related to the financial instruments approximated market value.
The Company accounts for its investments in debt securities at fair value. The following provides a description of the three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value under the standard, the types of investments that fall
under each category, and the valuation methodologies used to measure these investments at fair value.
•

Level 1 – Inputs are based upon unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

•

Level 2 – Inputs to the valuation include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability, and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means. If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input
must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. All debt securities were valued using Level 2 inputs.

•

Level 3 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

5. Significant Transactions
Affiliates of Eastern Capital Limited
On November 1, 2021, the Company and its subsidiary, iBio CDMO LLC (“iBio CDMO”, and collectively with the Company, the “Purchaser”) entered into a series of agreements (the “Transaction”) with College Station Investors
LLC (“College Station”), and Bryan Capital Investors LLC (“Bryan Capital” and, collectively with College Station, “Seller”), each affiliates of Eastern Capital Limited (“Eastern,” a former significant stockholder of the Company)
described in more detail below whereby in exchange for a certain cash payment and a warrant the Company:
(i) acquired both the Facility where iBio CDMO at that time and currently conducts business and also the rights as the tenant in the Facility’s ground lease;
(ii) acquired all of the equity owned by one of the affiliates of Eastern in the Company and iBio CDMO; and
(iii) otherwise terminated all agreements between the Company and the affiliates of Eastern.
The Facility is a life sciences building located on land owned by the Board of Regents of the Texas A&M University System (“Texas A&M”) and is designed and equipped for the manufacture of plant-made biopharmaceuticals. iBio
CDMO had held a sublease for the Facility through 2050, subject to extension until 2060 (the “Sublease”).
The Purchase and Sale Agreement
On November 1, 2021, the Purchaser entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “Purchase and Sale Agreement”) with the Seller pursuant to which: (i) the Seller sold to Purchaser all of its rights, title and interest as the tenant in
the Ground Lease Agreement (the “Ground Lease Agreement”) that it entered into with Texas A&M (the “Landlord’’) related to the property at which the Facility is located together with all improvements pertaining thereto (the
“Property”), which previously had been the subject of the Sublease; (ii) the Seller sold to Purchaser all of its rights, title and interest to any tangible personal property owned by Seller and located on the Property including the Facility;
(iii) the Seller sold to Purchaser all of its rights, title and interest to all licensed, permits and authorization for use of the Property; and (iv) College Station and iBio CDMO terminated the Sublease. The total purchase price for the
Property, the
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termination of the Sublease and other agreements among the parties, and the equity described below is $28,750,000, which was paid $28,000,000 in cash and by the issuance to Seller of warrants (the “Warrant”) described below. As
part of the transaction, iBio CDMO became the tenant under the Ground Lease Agreement for the Property until 2060 upon exercise of available extensions. The base rent payable under the Ground Lease Agreement, which was
$151,450 for the prior year, is 6.5% of the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Ground Lease Agreement) of the Property. The Ground Lease Agreement includes various covenants, indemnities, defaults, termination rights, and other
provisions customary for lease transactions of this nature.
The Equity Purchase Agreement
The Company also entered into an Equity Purchase Agreement with Bryan Capital on November 1, 2021 (the “Equity Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company acquired for $50,000 cash, plus the Warrant, the one (1)
share of iBio CMO Preferred Tracking Stock and the 0.01% interest in iBio CDMO owned by Bryan Capital. iBio CDMO is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
The Credit Agreement
In connection with the Purchase and Sale Agreement, iBio CDMO entered into a Credit Agreement, dated November 1, 2021, with Woodforest National Bank (“Woodforest") (the “Credit Agreement”) pursuant to which Woodforest
provided iBio CDMO a $22,375,000 secured term loan (the “Term Loan”) to purchase the Facility, which Term Loan is evidenced by a Term Note (the “Term Note”). The Term Loan was advanced in full on the closing date. The Term
Loan bears interest at a rate of 3.25%, with higher interest rates upon an event of default, which interest is payable monthly beginning November 5, 2021. Principal on the Term Loan is payable on November 1, 2023, subject to early
termination upon events of default. The Term Loan provides that it may be prepaid by iBio CDMO at any time and provides for mandatory prepayment upon certain circumstances.
The Credit Agreement contains customary events of default (which are in some cases subject to certain exceptions, thresholds, notice requirements and grace periods), including, but not limited to, nonpayment of principal or interest,
failure to perform or observe covenants, breaches of representations and warranties, cross-defaults with certain other indebtedness, certain bankruptcy-related events or proceedings, final monetary judgments or orders and certain
change of control events. The covenants include a prohibition on the incurrence of Debt (as defined in the Credit Agreement) except permitted Debt (as defined in the Credit Agreement) and Liens (as defined in the Credit Agreement)
and termination of the Ground Lease Agreement. In addition, the Company must maintain unrestricted cash of no less than $10,000,000.
The Company opened an irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of approximately $5,469,000 in favor of Woodforest. The letter of credit expires on October 29, 2022, and renews annually as required.
The proceeds of the Term Loan were used (a) to fund a portion of the purchase price under the Purchase Agreement, and (b) to pay closing costs in connection with the Credit Agreement. The term loan is secured by (a) a leasehold
deed of trust on the Facility, (b) a letter of credit issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, and (c) a first lien on all assets of iBio CDMO including the Facility.
At March 31, 2022, the Term Loan of $22,375,000 is presented net of the Company’s approximate $255,000 of costs incurred to attain the debt. Interest expense incurred under the Credit Agreement for both the three and nine months
ended March 31, 2022, amounted to $182,000 and $305,000, respectively. Amortization of deferred finance costs amounted to $67,000 for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2022 and is included in interest expense.
Security and Pledge Agreements, Guaranties and Deed of Trust
iBio CDMO also entered into a Security Agreement on November 1, 2021 with Woodforest (the “Security Agreement”) providing Woodforest a security interest in the following assets of iBio CDMO (subject to certain exclusions): all
personal and fixture property of every kind and nature, including, without limitation, all goods (including, but not limited to, all equipment and any accessions thereto), all inventory, instruments (including promissory notes),
documents, accounts, chattel paper (whether tangible or electronic), deposit accounts, securities accounts, letter-of-credit rights (whether or not the letter of credit is evidenced by a writing), money, commercial tort claims, securities
and all other investment property, supporting obligations, contracts, contract rights, other rights to the payment of money, insurance claims and proceeds, software, fixtures, vehicles and rolling stock (whether or not subject to a
certificate of title statute), leasehold improvements, general intangibles (including all payment intangibles), and all of iBio CDMO’s company and other business books, reports, memoranda, customer lists, credit files, data
compilations, and computer software, in any form, including, without limitation, whether on tape, disk, card, strip, cartridge, or any other form, pertaining to any and all of the foregoing property, and all products and proceeds of the
foregoing.
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The Company also entered into a Guaranty for the benefit of Woodforest (the “Guaranty”) pursuant to which it guaranteed all of the obligations of iBio CDMO to Woodforest.
In addition, iBio CDMO entered into a Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement and UCC Financing Statement for Fixture Filing (the “Deed of Trust”) with the trustee named therein and Woodforest as
beneficiary, securing all of iBio CDMO’s obligations to Woodforest by a senior priority security interest in the Property.
The Company and iBio CDMO also entered into an Environmental Indemnity Agreement in favor of Woodforest (the “Environmental Indemnity Agreement”).
The Warrant
As part of the consideration for the purchase and sale of the rights set forth above, the Company issued to Bryan Capital a Warrant to purchase 1,289,581 shares of the Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.33 per share. The
Warrant expires October 10, 2026, is exercisable immediately, provides for a cashless exercise at any time and automatic cashless exercise on the expiration date if on such date the exercise price of the Warrant exceeds its fair market
value as determined in accordance with the terms of the Warrant and adjustments in the case of stock dividends and stock splits. Of the shares issued under the Warrant, 289,581, which are valued at $217,255, reflect the final payment
of rent due under the Sublease. The Warrant, as shown on the condensed consolidated statements of equity, was recorded in additional paid in capital with the corresponding activity included in the basis of the purchase price allocation
of the property acquired. See Note 15 – Stockholders’ Equity for additional information.
RubrYc
On August 23, 2021, the Company entered into a series of agreements with RubrYc Therapeutics, Inc. (“RubrYc”) described in more detail below:
Collaboration and License Agreement
The Company entered into a collaboration and licensing agreement (the “RTX-003 License Agreement”) with RubrYc to further develop RubrYc’s immune-oncology antibodies in its RTX-003 campaign. Under the terms of the
agreement, the Company is solely responsible for worldwide research and development activities for development of the RTX-003 antibodies for use in pharmaceutical products in all fields. Contingent upon receipt by RubrYc of
funding of its Series A-2 preferred stock offering (see below), during the term of the RTX-003 License Agreement, RubrYc granted the Company an exclusive worldwide sublicensable royalty-bearing license under the patents
controlled by RubrYc that cover the RTX-003 antibodies. The commercial license exclusively permits the Company to research, develop, make, have made, manufacture, use, distribute, sell, offer for sale, import, and export antibodies
in RubrYc’s RTX-003. Under the terms and conditions of the RTX-003 License Agreement, the Company agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize RTX-003 antibodies. If the Company fails to
achieve certain timing milestones for starting GMP manufacturing and dosing human patients under an IND, it could be required to make a payment to RubrYc on the date the milestone is missed and on each anniversary of such date
until the milestone is achieved, provided that the milestone was missed due to its failure to exercise commercially reasonable efforts.
iBio Development Milestones are set forth below.
Successful 1st run GMP manufacture first licensed product
1st patient dosed under a licensed product

·
·

Under the terms of the RTX-003 License Agreement, RubrYc is eligible to receive from the Company up to an aggregate of $15 million in clinical development and regulatory milestone payments for RTX-003 upon achievement of
the following four clinical milestones:
·
·
·
·

5th patient dosed in a Phase I clinical study;
5th patient dosed in a Phase II clinical study;
4th patient dosed in a Phase III clinical study (payable in cash or our stock, at our discretion) and
First commercial sale (payable in cash or our stock, at our discretion).

RubrYc will also be entitled to receive royalties in the mid-single digits on net sales of RTX-003 antibodies, subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. Royalties are payable on a country-by-country basis until the latest to
occur of: (i) the last-to-expire of specified patent rights in such country; (ii) expiration of marketing or regulatory exclusivity in such country; or (iii) ten (10) years after the first commercial sale of a product in such country, provided
that no biosimilar product has been approved in such country.
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If either the Company or RubrYc materially breaches the RTX-003 License Agreement and does not cure such breach within 60 days (or 30 days in the event of non-payment), the non-breaching party may terminate the RTX-003
License Agreement in its entirety. Either party may also terminate the RTX-003 License Agreement, effective immediately upon written notice, if the other party files for bankruptcy, is dissolved or has a receiver appointed for
substantially all of its property. RubrYc may terminate the RTX-003 License Agreement if the Company or its sublicensees challenges the validity or enforceability of any of RubrYc’s Licensed Patents subject to certain exceptions.
The Company may terminate the RTX-003 License Agreement in its entirety for any or no reason upon ninety (90) days’ written notice to RubrYc. In addition, if RubrYc is unable to complete a financing with proceeds of a certain
agreed-upon amount by a set time defined in the RTX-003 License Agreement, the Company may terminate the RTX-003 License Agreement upon written notice to RubrYc within thirty (30) days of the end of such period. Effective
upon such termination, among other things, RubrYc shall assign to us exclusive ownership of the RTX-003, including all relevant intellectual property rights.
Collaboration, Option and License Agreement
The Company entered into an agreement with RubrYc to collaborate for up to five years to discover and develop novel antibody therapeutics using RubrYc’s artificial intelligence discovery platform. Antibody targets for the
collaboration may be agreed upon pursuant to written collaboration plans approved by a joint steering committee comprised of two representatives of each party. In addition, RubrYc has granted the Company an exclusive option to
obtain a worldwide sublicensable commercial license with respect to each of the lead product candidates resulting from such collaboration programs (the “Selected Compounds”). The Company has agreed to pay RubrYc for each
Selected Compound as it achieves various milestones in addition to royalties if the Selected Compounds are commercialized. Under the terms and conditions of the Collaboration Agreement, in the event the option is exercised by the
Company, it has various diligence obligations including that it will use commercially reasonable efforts to (i) develop Selected Compounds for use in pharmaceutical products (the “Collaboration Products”); and (ii) commercialize the
Collaboration Products. The Company is also required to meet a series of development milestones for each Collaboration Product. Failure to achieve the milestones will result in a payment to RubrYc on the date the milestone is missed
and on each anniversary of such date until the milestone is achieved, provided that the milestone was missed due to its failure to exercise commercially reasonable efforts.
iBio Development Milestones are set forth below.
·
·
·

Successful 1st run GMP manufacture of the first Collaboration Product
Initiate IND enabling studies for such Collaboration Product
1st patient dosed under such Collaboration Product

Under the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, RubrYc is eligible to receive from us up to an aggregate of $15 million in clinical development and regulatory milestone payments for each Collaboration Product that achieves the
following:
●
●
●
●

5th patient dosed in a Phase I clinical study;
5th patient dosed in a Phase II clinical study;
4th patient dosed in a Phase III clinical study (payable in cash or our stock, at our discretion) and
First commercial sale (payable in cash or our stock, at our discretion).

RubrYc will also be entitled to receive tiered royalties ranging from low- to mid-single digits on net sales of Collaboration Products, subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. Royalties are payable on a country-by-country
and collaboration product-by-collaboration product basis until the latest to occur of: (i) the last-to-expire of specified patent rights in such country; (ii) expiration of marketing or regulatory exclusivity in such country; or (iii) ten (10)
years after the first commercial sale of a product in such country, provided that no biosimilar product has been approved in such country.
If either the Company or RubrYc materially breaches the Collaboration Agreement and does not cure such breach within 60 days (or 30 days in the event of non-payment), the non-breaching party may terminate the Agreement in its
entirety. Either party may also terminate the Collaboration Agreement, effective immediately upon written notice, if the other party files for bankruptcy, is dissolved or has a receiver appointed for substantially all of its property.
RubrYc may terminate the Collaboration Agreement if the Company, its affiliates or its sublicensees challenges the validity or enforceability of any of RubrYc’s patents covering any of the licensed compounds or products. The
Company may terminate the Collaboration Agreement in its entirety, or with respect to a program, collaboration or Selected Compound for any or no reason upon ninety (90) days’ written notice to RubrYc.
In addition, if RubrYc is unable to complete a financing with proceeds of a certain agreed upon amount by a set time defined in the Collaboration Agreement, the Company may terminate the Collaboration Agreement upon written
notice to RubrYc within thirty (30) days of the end of such period. Effective upon such termination, among other things, RubrYc shall assign to the Company exclusive ownership of the Collaboration Hit Candidates (as defined in the
Collaboration Agreement) that are in the then-current (un-terminated) discovery collaboration plans, including all relevant intellectual property rights.
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In November 2021, the Company announced that for the first time it had commenced development of a new molecule that was designed using RubrYc’s artificial intelligence discovery platform.
Stock Purchase Agreement
In connection with the entry into the Collaboration Agreement and RTX-003 License Agreement, the Company also entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (“Stock Purchase Agreement”) with RubrYc whereby the Company
purchased 1,909,563 shares of RubrYc’s Series A-2 preferred stock “Series A-2 Preferred”) for $5,000,000 and agreed to acquire an additional 954,782 shares of RubrYc’s Series A-2 Preferred for $2,500,000 in the event certain
conditions set forth in the Stock Purchase Agreement are satisfied as of December 1, 2021 and April 2, 2022. In connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company entered into the RubrYc Therapeutics, Inc. Second
Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement (the “Investors’ Rights Agreement”), RubrYc Therapeutics, Inc. Second Amended and Restated Voting Agreement (the “Voting Agreement”) and the RubrYc Therapeutics, Inc.
Second Amended and Restated Right of First Refusal and Co-Sale Agreement (the “Right of First Refusal and Co-Sale Agreement”).
On March 16, 2022, pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, and upon the satisfaction of the conditions set forth therein, the Company acquired an additional 954,782 shares of RubrYc’s Series A-2 preferred stock for $2.5 million.
The rights, preferences and privileges of the RubrYc Series A-2 Preferred Stock (“Series A-2 Preferred”) are set forth in the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of RubrYc Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Amended
RubrYc COI”), and include a preferential eight percent (8%) dividend, senior rights on liquidation, the right to elect a Series A-2 Preferred director for as long as the Company holds at least 1,500,000 shares of RubrYc stock, the right
to vote on an as-converted basis, certain anti-dilution and other protective provisions, the right to convert the Series A-2 Preferred into shares of RubrYc common stock at the Company’s option, and mandatory conversion of the Series
A-2 Preferred into shares of RubrYc common stock upon (a) the closing of a firm-commitment underwritten public offering to the public pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, for
shares of RubrYc common stock at a per share price of at least five (5) times the Series A-2 Original Issue Price (as defined in the Amended RubrYc COI) and resulting in at least $30,000,000 of gross proceeds to RubrYc or (b) such
other date, time or event, specified by vote or written consent of the majority of the aggregate voting power, on an as-converted basis, of the RubrYc Series A preferred stock (“Series A Preferred” and together with the Series A-2
Preferred, the “Senior Preferred Stock”) and Series A-2 Preferred. The Right of First Refusal and Co-Sale Agreement gives RubrYc the right of first refusal on stock sales by key holders, generally defined as founders, and a second
right of first refusal and a co-sale right to specified other investors, including certain holders of Senior Preferred Stock and the Company.
The Investors’ Rights Agreement provides the holders of Senior Preferred Stock with, among things: (i) demand registration rights, under specified circumstances; (ii) piggyback registration rights in the event of a company registered
offering; (iii) lock-up and market-standoff obligations following a registered underwritten public offering; (iv) preemptive rights on company offered securities; and (v) additional protective covenants that require the approval at least
two of the three directors elected by the holders of the Senior Preferred Stock.
Pursuant to the Voting Agreement, certain RubrYc stockholders are contractually obligated to, among other things, vote for and maintain the authorized number of directors at five members, one of which the Company has the
contractual right to elect subject to the conditions set forth above. Mr. Thomas Isett ("Isett"), our Chief Executive Officer and Chairperson, was appointed to the board of directors of RubrYc for which he receives no additional
compensation from RubrYc.
The Company accounted for the agreements as an asset purchase and allocated the purchase price of $7,500,000 as follows:

Preferred stock
Intangible assets
Prepaid expenses

$

$
At September 30, 2021, the Company recorded a liability of $2,500,000 for the acquisition of the second tranche of Series A-2 Preferred shares. The liability was paid in March 2022.
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1,760,000
4,300,000
1,440,000
7,500,000
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6. Convertible Promissory Note Receivable
On October 1, 2020, the Company entered into a master services agreement with Safi Biosolutions, Inc. (“Safi”). In addition, the Company invested $1.5 million in Safi in the form of a convertible promissory note (the "Note"). The
Note bears interest at the rate of 5% per annum and is convertible into shares of Safi’s common stock (as defined). Principal and accrued interest mature on October 1, 2023. For the three and nine months ended March 31, 2022,
interest income amounted to $18,000 and $56,000, respectively. As of March 31, 2022, and June 30, 2021, the Note balance and accrued interest totaled $1,612,000 and $1,556,000, respectively.
7. Investments in Debt and Equity Securities
Debt Securities
Investments in debt securities consist of AA and A rated corporate bonds bearing interest at rates from 0.25% to 3.5% with maturities from April 2022 to February 2024. The components of investments in debt securities are as follows
(in thousands):
March 31,
2022
Adjusted cost
Gross unrealized losses
Fair value

$

June 30,
2021
14,944
(131)
14,813

$

$

19,603
(33)
19,570

$

The fair value of available-for-sale debt securities, by contractual maturity, was as follows (in thousands):
March 31,
2022

Fiscal period ending:
2022
2023
2024

$

$

June 30
2021
2,503
9,497
2,813
14,813

$

11,430
8,140

$

19,570

—

Amortization of premiums paid on the debt securities amounted to $74,000 and $80,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Amortization of premiums paid on the debt securities amounted to $269,000
and $130,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Equity Security – at cost
As discussed above, the Company acquired Series A-2 Preferred shares of RubrYc valued at $1,760,000. The Company classified the investment as noncurrent as it is management's intent not to sell the investment in the near term.
8. Finance Lease ROU Assets
As discussed above, the Company adopted ASC 842 effective July 1, 2019, using the modified retrospective approach for all leases entered into before the effective date.
From January 13, 2016, until November 1, 2021, iBio CDMO leased its facility (the “Facility”) in Bryan, Texas as well as certain equipment from College Station under a sublease (the "Sublease"). The Sublease was terminated on
November 1, 2021, when iBio CDMO acquired the Facility and became the tenant under the ground lease for the property upon which the Facility is located.
The economic substance of the Sublease was that the Company is financing the acquisition of the Facility and equipment. As the Sublease involved real estate and equipment, the Company separated the equipment component and
accounted for the Facility and equipment as if each were leased separately.
In addition, the Company also leases a mobile office trailer.
See Note 13 – Finance Lease Obligation for more details of the terms of the leases.
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The following table summarizes by category the gross carrying value and accumulated amortization of finance lease ROU (in thousands):
March 31,
2022

ROU - Facility
ROU - Equipment

$

Accumulated amortization
Net finance lease ROU

June 30,
2021

—
146
146
(60)
86

$

$

25,907
7,728
33,635
(7,524)
26,111

$

Amortization of finance lease ROU assets was approximately $24,000 and $406,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Amortization of finance lease ROU assets was approximately $587,000 and
$1,236,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
9. Operating Lease ROU Assets
On September 10, 2021, the Company entered into a lease for approximately 11,383 square feet of space in San Diego, California. Based on the terms of the lease payments, the Company recorded an operating lease right-of-use asset
of $3,603,000.
On November 1, 2021, as discussed above, iBio CDMO acquired the Facility and became the tenant under the ground lease for the property upon which the Facility is located. Based on the terms of the lease payments, the Company
recorded an operating lease right of use (“ROU”) asset of $1,967,000.
See Note 14 - Operating Lease Obligation for additional information.
The following table summarizes by category the net carrying values of operating lease ROU (in thousands):
March 31,
2022

ROU - San Diego lease
ROU - Texas Facility ground lease
Net operating lease ROU

$
$

June 30,
2021

3,209
1,942
5,151

$

20,394
10,645
2,659
3,640
37,338
(2,757)
34,581

$

—
—
—

$

10. Fixed Assets
The following table summarizes by category the gross carrying value and accumulated depreciation of fixed assets (in thousands):
March 31,
2022

Facility and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Office equipment and software
Construction in progress

$

Accumulated depreciation
Net fixed assets

$

June 30,
2021

$

1,517
4,255
714
3,367
9,853
(1,225)
8,628

As discussed above, on November 1, 2021, iBio CDMO acquired the Facility and medical equipment.
Depreciation expense was approximately $709,000 and $119,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Depreciation expense was approximately $1,532,000 and $330,000 for the nine months ended
March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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11. Intangible Assets
The Company has two categories of intangible assets – intellectual property and patents. Intellectual property consists of all technology, know-how, data, and protocols for producing targeted proteins in plants and related to any
products and product formulations for pharmaceutical uses and for other applications. Intellectual property includes, but is not limited to, certain technology for the development and manufacture of novel vaccines and therapeutics for
humans and certain veterinary applications acquired in December 2003 from Fraunhofer USA Inc., acting through its Center for Molecular Biotechnology (“Fraunhofer”), pursuant to a Technology Transfer Agreement, as amended (the
“TTA”). The Company designates such technology further developed and acquired from Fraunhofer as iBioLaunch(TM) or LicKM(TM) or FastPharming(R) Technology. The value on the Company’s books attributed to patents owned or
controlled by the Company is based only on payments for services and fees related to the protection of the Company’s patent portfolio. The intellectual property also includes certain trademarks.
On August 23, 2021, the Company entered into a series of agreements with RubrYc described in more detail above (see Note 5 – Significant Transactions) whereby in exchange for a $7.5 million investment in RubrYc, the Company
acquired a worldwide exclusive license to certain antibodies that RubrYc develops under what it calls its RTX-003 campaign, which are promising immuno-oncology antibodies that bind to the CD25 protein without interfering with
the IL-2 signaling pathway thereby potentially depleting T regulatory (T reg) cells while enhancing T effector (T eff) cells and encouraging the immune system to attack cancer cells. In addition, the Company also received preferred
shares and an option for future collaboration licenses.
In January 2014, the Company entered into a license agreement with the University of Pittsburgh whereby iBio acquired exclusive worldwide rights to certain issued and pending patents covering specific candidate products for the
treatment of fibrosis (the "Licensed Technology") which license agreement was amended in August 2016 and again in December 2020 and February 2022. The license agreement provides for payment by the Company of a license issue
fee, annual license maintenance fees, reimbursement of prior patent costs incurred by the university, payment of a milestone payment upon regulatory approval for sale of a first product, and annual royalties on product sales. In
addition, the Company has agreed to meet certain diligence milestones related to product development benchmarks. As part of its commitment to the diligence milestones, the Company successfully commenced production of a plantmade peptide comprising the Licensed Technology before March 31, 2014. The next milestone – filing an Investigational New Drug Application with the FDA or foreign equivalent covering the Licensed Technology ("IND") –
initially was required to be met by December 1, 2015, and on November 2, 2020, was extended to be required to be met by December 31, 2021. On February 8, 2022, the Company signed another amendment to the license agreement
with the University of Pittsburgh. The deadline for the next milestone was extended to December 31, 2023. In addition, the amounts of the annual license maintenance fee and payment upon completion of various regulatory milestones
were amended.
The Company accounts for intangible assets at their historical cost and records amortization utilizing the straight-line method based upon their estimated useful lives. Patents are amortized over a period of 10 years and other intellectual
property is amortized over a period from 16 to 23 years. The Company reviews the carrying value of its intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate the carrying amount of such
assets may not be fully recoverable. Evaluating for impairment requires judgment, and recoverability is assessed by comparing the projected undiscounted net cash flows of the assets over the remaining useful life to the carrying
amount. Impairments, if any, are based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the assets. There were no impairments during the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.
The following table summarizes by category the gross carrying value and accumulated amortization of intangible assets (in thousands):
March 31,
2022

Intellectual property – gross carrying value
Patents and licenses – gross carrying value

$

Intellectual property – accumulated amortization
Patents and licenses – accumulated amortization
$

Net intangible assets

June 30,
2021

3,100
7,021
10,121
(2,828)
(2,374)
(5,202)
4,919

$

$

3,100
2,720
5,820
(2,711)
(2,157)
(4,868)
952

Amortization expense was approximately $122,000 and $73,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Amortization expense was approximately $333,000 and $218,000 for the nine months ended
March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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12. Note Payable – PPP Loan
On April 16, 2020, the Company received $600,000 related to its filing under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) and Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the "CARES Act"). The Company elected to treat the
Small Business Administration (“SBA”) Loan as debt under ASC 470, “Debt”.
On July 21, 2021, iBio was granted forgiveness in repaying the loan. In accordance with ASC 405-20-40, “Liabilities - Extinguishments of Liabilities – Derecognition”, the Company derecognized the liability and accrued interest in
the first quarter of Fiscal 2022. At June 30, 2021, the Company owed $600,000.
13. Finance Lease Obligation
Sublease
As discussed above, until November 1, 2021, iBio CDMO leased the Facility as well as certain equipment from College Station under the Sublease.
The Sublease was terminated on November 1, 2021, when iBio CDMO acquired the Facility and became the tenant under the ground lease for the property upon which the Facility is located. See Note 14 for additional information
related to the ground lease.
Prior terms of the Sublease which determined the accounting through October 31, 2021, included:
●

The 34-year term of the Sublease was to expire in 2050 but could have been extended by iBio CDMO for a ten-year period, so long as iBio CDMO was not in default under the Sublease. Under the Sublease, iBio CDMO was
required to pay base rent at an annual rate of $2,100,000, paid in equal quarterly installments on the first day of each February, May, August and November. The base rent was subject to increase annually in accordance with
increases in the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”). The base rent under the Second Eastern Affiliate’s ground lease for the property was subject to adjustment, based on an appraisal of the property, in 2030 and upon any
extension of the ground lease. The base rent under the Sublease would have increased by any increase in the base rent under the ground lease as a result of such adjustments. iBio CDMO was responsible for all costs and
expenses in connection with the ownership, management, operation, replacement, maintenance and repair of the property under the Sublease. The Company incurred rent expense of $0 and $50,000 for the three months ended
March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $64,000 and $135,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

●

In addition to the base rent, iBio CDMO was required to pay, for each calendar year during the term, a portion of the total gross sales for products manufactured or processed at the facility, equal to 7% of the first $5,000,000
of gross sales, 6% of gross sales between $5,000,001 and $25,000,000, 5% of gross sales between $25,000,001 and $50,000,000, 4% of gross sales between $50,000,001 and $100,000,000, and 3% of gross sales between
$100,000,001 and $500,000,000. However, if for any calendar year period from January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2019, iBio CDMO’s applicable gross sales were less than $5,000,000, or for any calendar year period
from and after January 1, 2020, its applicable gross sales were less than $10,000,000, then iBio CDMO was required to pay the amount that would have been payable if it had achieved such minimum gross sales and would
pay no less than the applicable percentage for the minimum gross sales for each subsequent calendar year. As the Company accounts for leases under ASC 842, the minimum percentage rent was included in the finance lease
obligation through the acquisition on November 1, 2021.

Accrued expenses at March 31, 2022, and June 30, 2021 due College Station amounted to $0 and $847,000, respectively. General and administrative expenses related to Second Eastern Affiliate, including rent related to the increases in
CPI and real estate taxes, were approximately $0 and $189,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and approximately $250,000 and $551,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. Interest expense related to College Station was approximately $0 and $611,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and approximately $810,000 and $1,836,000 for the nine months ended
March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Mobile Office Trailer
Commencing April 1, 2021, the Company is leasing a mobile office trailer at a monthly rental of $3,819 through March 31, 2024.
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The following tables present the components of lease expense and supplemental balance sheet information related to the finance lease obligation (in thousands).
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

Finance lease cost:
Amortization of ROU assets
Interest on lease liabilities
CPI lease cost
Total lease cost

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2021

$

Other information:
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from finance lease - CPI rent
Financing cash flows from finance lease obligations

$

$

24
—
—
24

$

406
610
49
1,065

$
$

—
10

$
$

49
74

Nine Months Ended
March 31,
2022

Finance lease cost:
Amortization of ROU assets
Interest on lease liabilities
CPI lease cost
Total lease cost

Nine Months Ended
March 31,
2021

$

Other information:
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from finance lease - CPI rent
Financing cash flows from finance lease obligations

$

$

587
815
64
1,466

$

1,236
1,836
135
3,207

$
$

64
5,820

$
$

135
223

March 31,
2022

Finance lease ROU assets
Finance lease obligation - current portion
Finance lease obligation - noncurrent portion
Weighted average remaining lease term - finance lease
Weighted average discount rate - finance lease obligation

$
$
$

June 30,
2021

86
45
41
2.01 years
6.25 %

$
$
$

26,111
367
31,755
28.58 years
7.606 %

Future minimum payments under the finance lease obligation are due as follows (in thousands):
Fiscal period ending on March 31 :

Principal

2023
2024

$

Total minimum lease payments
Less: current portion
Long-term portion of minimum lease obligations

$

25

Interest

45
41
86
(45)
41

$

$

Total

5
1
6

$

$

50
42
92
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14. Operating Lease Obligation
Texas Ground Lease
As discussed above, as part of the Transaction, iBio CDMO became the tenant under the Ground Lease Agreement for the Property until 2060 upon exercise of available extensions. The base rent payable under the Ground Lease
Agreement, which was $151,450 for the prior year, is 6.5% of the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Ground Lease Agreement) of the Property. The Ground Lease Agreement includes various covenants, indemnities, defaults,
termination rights, and other provisions customary for lease transactions of this nature.
San Diego
On September 10, 2021, the Company entered into a lease for approximately 11,383 square feet of space in San Diego, California. Terms of the lease include the following:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

The length of term of the lease is 88 months from the lease commencement date (as defined).
The lease commencement date was estimated to be on or around January 1, 2022.
The monthly rent for the first year of the lease is $51,223 and increases approximately 3% per year.
The lease provides for a base rent abatement for months two through five in the first year of the lease.
The landlord is providing a tenant improvement allowance of $81,860 to be used for improvements as specified in the lease.
The Company is responsible for other expenses such as electric, janitorial, etc.
The Company opened an irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of $188,844 in favor of the landlord. The letter of credit expires on October 8, 2022 and renews annually as required.

As discussed above, the lease provides for scheduled increases in base rent and scheduled rent abatements. Rent expense is charged to operations using the straight-line method over the term of the lease which results in rent expense
being charged to operations at inception of the lease in excess of required lease payments. This excess (formerly classified as deferred rent) is shown as a reduction of the operating lease right-of-use asset in the accompanying balance
sheet. As the Company has already started making improvements to the facility, the rent expense will be recognized.
The following tables present the components of lease expense and supplemental balance sheet information related to the operating lease obligation (in thousands).
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

Operating lease cost:
Total lease cost

$
$

169
169

Other information:
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement lease liability:
Operating cash flows from operating lease
Operating cash flows from operating lease obligation

$
$

169
2

Nine Months Ended
March 31,
2022

Operating lease cost:
Total lease cost

$
$

381
381

Other information:
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement lease liability:
Operating cash flows from operating lease
Operating cash flows from operating lease obligation

$
$

381
12
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Future minimum payments under the operating lease obligation are due as follows (in thousands):
Fiscal period ending on March 31 :

Principal

2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
Thereafter

$

Total minimum lease payments
Less: current portion
Long-term portion of minimum lease obligation

$

Imputed Interest

Total

10
389
436
488
545
3,690

$

295
388
360
327
289
3,320

$

305
777
796
815
834
7,010

5,558
(10)
5,548

$

4,979

$

10,537

15. Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock
The Company’s Board of Directors is authorized to issue, at any time, without further stockholder approval, up to 1 million shares of preferred stock. The Board of Directors has the authority to fix and determine the voting rights,
rights of redemption and other rights and preferences of preferred stock.
iBio CMO Preferred Tracking Stock
On February 23, 2017, the Company entered into an exchange agreement with Bryan Capital pursuant to which the Company acquired substantially all of the interest in iBio CDMO held by Bryan Capital and issued one share of a
newly created Preferred Tracking Stock, in exchange for 29,990,000 units of limited liability company interests of iBio CDMO held by Bryan Capital at an original issue price of $13 million. After giving effect to the transaction, the
Company owned 99.99% and Bryan Capital owned 0.01% of iBio CDMO.
On February 23, 2017, the Board of Directors of the Company created the Preferred Tracking Stock out of the Company’s 1 million authorized shares of preferred stock. The Preferred Tracking Stock accrued dividends at the rate of
2% per annum on the original issue price. Accrued dividends were cumulative and were payable if and when declared by the Board of Directors, upon an exchange of the shares of Preferred Tracking Stock and upon a liquidation,
winding up or deemed liquidation (such as a merger) of the Company. No dividends were declared through October 31, 2021.
On November 1, 2021, iBio purchased the iBio CMO Preferred Tracking Stock held by Bryan Capital. No iBio CMO Preferred Tracking Stock remains outstanding. As a result, the iBio CDMO subsidiary and its intellectual property
are now wholly owned by iBio. Accrued dividends totaled approximately $0 and $1,131,000 at March 31, 2022, and June 30, 2021, respectively.
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share ("Series A Preferred"), Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (“Series B Preferred”) and Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, par value
$0.001 per share (“Series C Preferred”)
On June 20, 2018, the Board of Directors of the Company created the Series A Preferred and Series B Preferred Stock and designated 6,300 shares as Series A Preferred Stock. On June 26, 2018, the Company issued 6,300 shares of
Series A Preferred and 5,785 shares of Series B Preferred Stock as part of a public offering. All of the issued shares of Series A Preferred were converted into an aggregate of 8,357,997 shares of the Common Stock and all of the issued
Series B Preferred were converted into an aggregate of 28,935,000 shares of the Common Stock.
On October 28, 2019, the Board of Directors of the Company created the Series C Preferred. On October 29, 2019, the Company issued 4,510 shares of Series C Preferred as part of a public offering. All of the shares of Series C
Preferred were converted into an aggregate of 22,550,000 shares of the Common Stock.
No shares of Series A Preferred, Series B Preferred or Series C Preferred remain outstanding.
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Common Stock
The number of authorized shares of Common Stock is 275 million. In addition, on December 9, 2020, the stockholders of the Company approved the Company’s 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”) and as of the filing date
of this report, the Company had reserved 32 million shares of Common Stock for issuance pursuant to the grant of new awards under the 2020 Plan.
Recent issuances of Common Stock include the following:
Vesting of Restricted Stock Units “RSUs”
In the quarter ended December 31, 2021, RSUs for 103,003 shares of Common Stock were vested. In the quarter ended March 31, 2022, RSUs for 105,027 shares of Common Stock were vested.
Exercise of Stock Options
In late September 2021, options for 84,500 shares of Common Stock were exercised.
Cantor Fitzgerald Underwriting
On November 25, 2020, the Company entered into a Controlled Equity OfferingSM Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. ("Cantor Fitzgerald") to sell shares of Common Stock, from time to time,
through an “at the market offering” program having an aggregate offering price of up to $100,000,000 through which Cantor Fitzgerald would act as sales agent (the “Sales Agent”). The issuance and sale, if any, of Common Stock by
the Company under the Sales Agreement was made pursuant to our registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-250973) (the “Registration Statement”), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 25, 2020.
The Registration Statement was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 7, 2020.
On December 8, 2020, the Company entered into the Underwriting Agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald, pursuant to which the Company (i) agreed to issue and sell in an underwritten public offering (the “Offering”) 29,661,017 shares of
Common Stock to Cantor Fitzgerald and (ii) granted Cantor Fitzgerald an option for 30 days to purchase up to an additional 4,449,152 shares of Common Stock that may be sold upon the exercise of such option by Cantor Fitzgerald.
On December 10, 2020, this offering closed and the Company issued approximately 29.66 million shares of Common Stock for gross proceeds totaling approximately $35.2 million. The Company incurred costs of approximately $2.9
million.
On January 11, 2021, the Company issued an additional 4,240,828 shares of Common Stock to Cantor Fitzgerald to satisfy the underwriter’s option exercise. The Company received net proceeds of approximately $4.6 million.
On February 24, 2021, Cantor Fitzgerald sold as sales agent pursuant to the Sales Agreement 113,200 shares of Common Stock. The Company received net proceeds of approximately $238,000.
On May 7, 2021, Cantor Fitzgerald sold as sales agent pursuant to the Sales Agreement 1,716,800 shares of Common Stock. The Company received net proceeds of approximately $2.995 million.
No sales were made during the three months ended March 31, 2022.
Warrants
The Company issued 25,000,000 Series A Warrants and 25,000,000 Series B Warrants as part of its October 29, 2019, public offering. The Series A Warrants were exercisable at $0.22 per share, had a term of two years and were set to
expire on October 29, 2021. The Series B Warrants were exercisable at $0.22 per share, had a term of seven years and were set to expire on October 29, 2026.
On February 20, 2020, the Company entered into a warrant amendment and exchange agreement (the “Warrant Exchange Agreement”) with certain holders (the “Warrant Holders”) of the Company’s Series A Warrants (the “Original
Series A Warrants”) and Series B Warrants (the “Original Series B Warrants”).
From the date of the October 29, 2019, public offering through June 30, 2020, the Company issued 29.1 million shares of Common Stock for the exercise of various Warrants and received proceeds of $6.4 million. In addition, the
Company issued 5.9 million shares of Common Stock for the cashless exercise of Warrants in which the “assumed proceeds” totaling $1.3 million were used to reduce the
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Company’s balances owed for the notes described above. Costs related to the exchange under the Warrant Exchange agreement totaled approximately $313,000 and were offset against additional paid-in capital.
As of December 31, 2020, there were no Original Series A Warrants or Original Series B Warrants outstanding.
The Warrant
As discussed above, the Company issued to Bryan Capital a Warrant to purchase 1,289,581 shares of the Common Stock of the Company at an exercise price of $1.33 per share. The Warrant expires October 10, 2026, is exercisable
immediately, provides for a cashless exercise at any time and automatic cashless exercise on the expiration date if on such date the exercise price of the Warrant exceeds its fair market value as determined in accordance with the terms
of the Warrant and adjustments in the case of stock dividends and stock splits.
The Company estimated the fair value of the Warrant using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions:
Weighted average risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Volatility
Expected term (in years)

0.23 %
0%
136.9 %
4.95

16. Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share
Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) allocated to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the period. For purposes of
calculating diluted earnings (loss) per common share, the denominator includes both the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period and the number of common stock equivalents if the inclusion
of such common stock equivalents is dilutive. Dilutive common stock equivalents potentially include stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method. The following table summarizes the components of the earnings (loss)
per common share calculation (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

Nine Months Ended
March 31,
2021

2022

2021

Basic and diluted numerator:
Net loss attributable to iBio, Inc.
Preferred stock dividends – iBio CMO Preferred Tracking Stock
Net loss available to iBio, Inc. stockholders

$
$

(12,390)
—
(12,390)

$
$

(7,661)
(64)
(7,725)

$
$

(33,249)
(88)
(33,337)

$
$

(23,323)
(195)
(23,518)

Basic and diluted denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding

218,096

Per share amount

$

(0.06)

215,539
$

(0.04)

217,986
$

188,493

(0.15)

$

(0.12)

In Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, the Company incurred net losses which cannot be diluted; therefore, basic and diluted loss per common share is the same. As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, shares issuable which could potentially dilute
future earnings were as follows:
March 31,
2022

2021
(in thousands)

Stock options
Restricted stock units
Warrant issued under the Transaction
Shares excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share

15,624
548
1,290
17,462
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Table of Contents

17. Share-Based Compensation
The following table summarizes the components of share-based compensation expense in the condensed consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

Research and development
General and administrative
Total

$

2021

75
1,199
1,274

$

$

143
847
990

$

Nine Months Ended
March 31,
2022

Research and development
General and administrative
Total

$
$

2021

350
2,848
3,198

$
$

143
847
990

Stock Options
iBio, Inc. 2018 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the "2018 Plan")
On December 18, 2018, the Company’s stockholders, upon recommendation of the Board of Directors on November 9, 2018, approved the 2018 Plan. On March 5, 2020, at the Company's 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the
Company's stockholders approved an amendment to the 2018 Plan to increase the number of shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance thereunder from 3.5 million shares to 6.5 million shares and to incorporate changes to
include restricted stock units and performance-based awards as grant types issuable under the 2018 Plan. The total number of shares of Common Stock reserved under the 2018 Plan is 6.5 million. Stock options granted under the 2018
Plan may be either incentive stock options (as defined by Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended), non-qualified stock options, or restricted stock and determined at the discretion of the Board of Directors.
Vesting of service awards was determined by the Board of Directors and stated in the award agreements. In general, vesting occurred ratably on the anniversary of the grant date over the service period, generally three or five years, as
determined at the time of grant. Vesting of performance awards occurred when the performance criteria was satisfied. The Company used historical data to estimate forfeiture rates. The 2018 Plan was terminated with the adoption of
the iBio, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (see below).
iBio, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”)
On December 9, 2020, the Company adopted the 2020 Plan for employees, officers, directors and external service providers. The total number of shares of Common Stock reserved under the 2020 Plan is 32 million shares of Common
Stock for issuance pursuant to the grant of new awards under the 2020 Plan. The 2020 Plan allows for the award of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, unrestricted stock, cash-based awards,
and dividend equivalent rights. The value of all awards awarded under the 2020 Plan and all other cash compensation paid by the Company to any non-employee director in any calendar year may not exceed $500,000; provided,
however, that such amount shall be $750,000 for the calendar year in which the applicable non-employee director is initially elected or appointed to the Board of Directors and $1,500,000 for any non-executive chair of our Board of
Directors should one be appointed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the independent members of the Board of Directors may make exceptions to such limits in extraordinary circumstances. The term of the 2020 Plan will expire on the
tenth anniversary of the date the Plan is approved by the stockholders.
Vesting of service awards are determined by the Board of Directors and stated in the award agreements. In general, vesting occurs ratably on the anniversary of the grant date over the service period, generally three or five years, as
determined at the time of grant. Vesting of performance awards occurs when the performance criteria is satisfied. The Company uses historical data to estimate forfeiture rates.
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Stock options issued under the plans during the three months ended September 30, 2021, were as follows:
●

On July 12, 2021, the Company granted a stock option agreement to an employee to purchase 25,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.35 per share. The options vest over a period of three years and expire
on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.

●

On July 19, 2021, the Company granted a stock option agreement to an employee to purchase 25,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.41 per share. The options vest over a period of three years and expire
on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.

●

On August 23, 2021, the Company granted a stock option agreement to a new member of its Board of Directors to purchase 100,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.26 per share. The options vest over a
period of three years and expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.

●

On August 23, 2021, the Company granted stock option agreements to various employees to purchase an aggregate of 3,937,191 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.26 per share. The options vest over a period
of three years and expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.

●

On September 13, 2021, the Company granted a stock option agreement to an employee to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.16 per share. The options vest over a period of three years and
expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.

●

On September 23, 2021, the Board of Directors approved an option grant award to Mr. Isett to purchase two million (2,000,000) shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $1.17, which vest in equal monthly
installments over a 36-month period following the grant date.

●

On September 30, 2021, the Company granted a stock option agreement to an employee to purchase 100,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.06 per share. The options vest over a period of three years and
expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.

Stock options issued under the 2020 Plan during the three months ended December 31, 2021, were as follows:
●

On November 29, 2021, the Company granted a stock option agreement to a consultant to purchase 100,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.85 per share. The options vest over a period of eight months
commencing in April 2022 and expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.

●

On December 9, 2021, the Company granted stock option agreements to various directors to purchase an aggregate of 872,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.69 per share. The options vest over a period of
one year commencing in January 2022 and expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.

Stock options issued under the 2020 Plan during the three months ended March 31, 2022, were as follows:
●

On January 16, 2022, the Company granted stock option agreements to two consultants to purchase an aggregate of 30,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.52 per share. The options vest over a period of
twelve months and expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.

●

On February 21, 2022, the Company granted a stock option agreement to an employee to purchase 400,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.34 per share. The options vest over a period of three years and
expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.

●

On March 28, 2022, the Company granted stock option agreements to two employees to purchase an aggregate of 200,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.46 per share. The options vest over a period of
three years and expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.
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The Company estimated the fair value of options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:
Weighted average risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Volatility
Expected term (in years)

0.80% - 2.52 %
0%
119.16 - 120.34 %
6

Restricted Stock Units “RSUs”
On August 23, 2021, the Company issued RSUs to acquire 105,723 shares of Common Stock for various employees at a market value of $1.26 per share. The RSUs vest over a four-year period. The grant-date fair value of the RSUs
totaled approximately $133,000.
18. Fraunhofer Settlement
On May 4, 2021, iBio, Inc. (the “Company”) and Fraunhofer USA, Inc. (“FhUSA”) entered into a Confidential Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release (the “Settlement Agreement”) to settle all claims and counterclaims in the
litigation captioned iBio, Inc. v. Fraunhofer USA, Inc. (Case No. 10256-VCF) in Delaware Chancery Court (the “Lawsuit”). The Settlement Agreement, among other things, resolves the Company’s claims to ownership of certain
plant-based technology developed by FhUSA from 2003 through 2014, and sets forth the terms of a license of intellectual property. The Lawsuit was commenced against FhUSA by the Company in March 2015 in the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware and is described in more detail in the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2020. The Settlement Agreement is not an admission of liability or fault of the
parties.
The terms of the Settlement Agreement provide for cash payments to the Company of $28,000,000 as follows: (i) $16,000,000 to be paid no later than May 14, 2021 (which is expected to be paid 100% to cover legal fees and
expenses); (ii) two payments of $5,100,000 payable by March 31, 2022 and 2023 and (iii) as additional consideration for a license agreement, two payments of $900,000 due on March 1, 2022 and 2023. The license provides for a
nonexclusive, nontransferable, worldwide, fully paid-up license to all intellectual property rights in and to certain plant-based technology developed by FhUSA from 2003 through 2014 that were the subject of the Lawsuit. After
payment of the fees and expenses of its attorneys and others retained by the Company, including the litigation funding company, the Company’s estimated aggregate net cash recovery as a result of the Settlement Agreement will be
approximately $10,200,000.
As of June 30, 2021, the Company held receivables related to the settlement in the amount of $10,200,000. This amount was recorded in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss as settlement income in Fiscal
2021. During the quarter ended March 31, 2022, the Company received the first payment of $5,100,000.
The Company would recognize the $1.8 million of license revenue when it determined the collection of the license fees was reasonably assured in accordance with ASC 606. On February 9, 2022, the Company received the first
$900,000 payment under the license agreement. As such, the Company determined that the collection of the license fees was reasonably assured, and the Company recognized license revenue related to the license fees and recorded a
receivable for the second payment in the third quarter of 2022.
As of March 31, 2022, the Company holds a settlement receivable balance of $5,100,000 related to the settlement and a trade receivable balance of $900,000 related to the license agreement.
19. Related Party Transaction
KBI Consulting
On April 1, 2020, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with KBI Consulting for business support services provided by Mr. Isett's wife. Per the consulting agreement the business support services are billed at $5,800 per
month. The Company terminated its agreement with KBI consulting effective March 31, 2021, at which time Mr. Isett’s wife became an employee of the Company. Consulting expenses totaled approximately $17,000 for the three
months ended March 31, 2021, and approximately $52,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2021.
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20. Income Taxes
The Company recorded no income tax expense for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2022, because the estimated annual effective tax rate was zero. As of March 31, 2022, the Company continues to provide a valuation
allowance against its net deferred tax assets since the Company believes it is more likely than not that its deferred tax assets will not be realized.
21. Contingencies
COVID-19
As a result of the pandemic, the Company has at times experienced reduced capacity to provide CDMO services as a result of instituting social distancing at work requirements in our Texas facility, restricting access to essential
workers, as well as taking other precautions. The Company also experienced a full three-day operational shutdown in April 2020 for extensive facility cleaning following the discovery that an employee had contracted COVID-19, and
successfully resumed operations on a reduced capacity basis.
The Company has ascertained that certain risks associated with further COVID-19 developments may adversely impact its operations and liquidity, and its business and share price may also be affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.
However, the Company does not anticipate any significant threat to its operations at this point in time. Due to the general unknown nature surrounding the crisis, the Company cannot reasonably estimate the potential for any future
impacts on its operations or liquidity.
The outbreak and spread of COVID-19 and continued progress in various countries around the world, including the United States, has led authorities around the globe to take various extraordinary measures to stem the spread of the
disease, such as emergency travel and transportation restrictions, school closures, quarantines and social distancing measures. The outbreak of COVID-19 has had an adverse effect on global markets and may continue to affect the
economy in the United States and globally, especially if new strains of SARS-CoV-2 emerge.
War in Ukraine
On February 24, 2022, Russia launched an invasion of Ukraine which has resulted in increased volatility in various financial markets and across various sectors. The United States and other countries, along with certain international
organizations, have imposed economic sanctions on Russia and certain Russian individuals, banking entities and corporations as a response to the invasion. The extent and duration of the military action, resulting sanctions and future
market disruptions in the region are impossible to predict. Moreover, the ongoing effects of the hostilities and sanctions may not be limited to Russia and Russian companies and may spill over to and negatively impact other regional
and global economic markets of the world, including Europe and the United States. Presently, the Company does not have any existing Russian suppliers or contractors. While it is difficult to estimate the impact of current or future
sanctions on the Company’s business and financial position, or global supply chains or service provisions that could have an impact on the availability or price of goods and services that the Company requires, the Company is not
aware of any company-specific risks related to the war in Ukraine at this time.
22. Employee 401(K) Plan
Commencing January 1, 2018, the Company established the iBio, Inc. 401(K) Plan (the “Plan”). Eligible employees of the Company may participate in the Plan, whereby they may elect to make elective deferral contributions pursuant
to a salary deduction agreement and receive matching contributions upon meeting age and length-of-service requirements. The Company will make a 100% matching contribution that is not in excess of 5% of an eligible employee’s
compensation. In addition, the Company may make qualified non-elective contributions at its discretion. For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, employer contributions made to the Plan totaled approximately $96,000
and $34,000, respectively, and $227,000 and $95,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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23. Segment Reporting
In accordance with FASB ASC 280, Segment Reporting, the Company discloses financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments. The Company operates in two segments, (i) its biologics development and licensing
activities, conducted within iBio, Inc. and (ii) our CDMO segment, conducted within iBio CDMO. These segments are components of the Company about which separate financial information is available and regularly evaluated by the
chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. Please
note that certain totals may not sum due to rounding.
Biopharmaceuticals
iBio, Inc.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 (in thousands)
Revenues - external customers
Revenues - intersegment
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Research and development
General and administrative
Operating loss
Interest expense
Interest and other income
Consolidated net loss
Total assets
Finance lease ROU assets
Operating lease ROU assets
Fixed assets, net
Intangible assets, net
Amortization of ROU assets
Depreciation expense
Amortization of intangible assets

$

1,800
817
—
2,617
3,764
5,430
(6,577)
—
40
(6,538)
165,896
—
3,209
1,068
4,919
—
—
122

Bioprocessing
iBio CDMO
$

Biopharmaceuticals
iBio, Inc.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 (in thousands)
Revenues - external customers
Revenues - intersegment
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Research and development
General and administrative
Operating loss
Interest expense
Interest and other income
Consolidated net loss
Total assets
Finance lease ROU assets
Fixed assets, net
Intangible assets, net
Amortization of ROU assets
Depreciation expense
Amortization of intangible assets

$

34

700
191
229
662
1,500
3,438
(4,276)
—
153
(4,123)
165,096
—
—
1,146
—
—
73

143
604
48
699
2,416
3,888
(5,605)
(250)
2
(5,852)
40,429
86
1,942
33,513
—
24
709
—

Eliminations
$

Bioprocessing
iBio CDMO
$

65
688
264
489
1,353
2,062
(2,927)
(612)
—
(3,539)
35,123
26,380
6,407
—
406
119
—

—
(1,421)
—
(1,421)
(629)
(792)
—
—
—
—
(90,955)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Total
$

Eliminations
$

—
(879)
—
(879)
(691)
(187)
—
—
—
—
(57,522)
—
—
—
—
—
—

1,943
—
48
1,895
5,551
8,526
(12,182)
(250)
42
(12,390)
115,370
86
5,151
34,581
4,919
24
709
122

Total
$

765
—
493
272
2,162
5,313
(7,203)
(612)
153
(7,662)
142,697
26,380
6,407
1,146
406
119
73
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Biopharmaceuticals
iBio, Inc.

Nine Months Ended March 31, 2022 (in thousands)
Revenues - external customers
Revenues - intersegment
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Research and development
General and administrative
Operating loss
Interest expense
Forgiveness of note payable and accrued interest
Interest and other income
Consolidated net loss
Total assets
Finance lease ROU assets
Operating lease ROU assets
Fixed assets, net
Intangible assets, net
Amortization of ROU assets
Depreciation expense
Amortization of intangible assets

$

1,884
993
—
2,877
7,498
13,746
(18,367)
—
—
117
(18,251)
165,896
—
3,209
1,068
4,919
—
—
333

Bioprocessing
iBio CDMO
$

Biopharmaceuticals
iBio, Inc.

Nine Months Ended March 31, 2021 (in thousands)
Revenues - external customers
Revenues - intersegment
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Research and development
General and administrative
Operating loss
Interest expense
Interest and other income
Consolidated net loss
Total assets
Finance lease ROU assets
Fixed assets, net
Intangible assets, net
Amortization of ROU assets
Depreciation expense
Amortization of intangible assets

$

1,097
667
425
1,339
2,341
8,921
(9,923)
—
185
(9,738)
165,096
—
—
1,146
—
—
218

438
1,489
201
1,726
5,432
10,721
(14,427)
(1,187)
607
7
(14,999)
40,429
86
1,942
33,513
—
587
1,532
—

Eliminations
$

Bioprocessing
iBio CDMO
$

783
1,186
850
1,119
5,761
7,106
(11,749)
(1,841)
1
(13,589)
35,123
26,380
6,407
—
1,236
330
—

—
(2,482)
—
(2,482)
(1,537)
(945)
—
—
—
—
—
(90,955)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Total
$

Eliminations
$

—
(1,853)
—
(1,853)
(1,210)
(642)
—
—
—
—
(57,522)
—
—
—
—
—
—

2,322
—
201
2,121
11,393
23,522
(32,794)
(1,187)
607
124
(33,250)
115,370
86
5,151
34,581
4,919
587
1,532
333

Total
$

1,880
—
1,275
605
6,892
15,385
(21,672)
(1,841)
186
(23,327)
142,697
26,380
6,407
1,146
1,236
330
218

24. Subsequent Events
On May 9, 2022, the Company designated a new class of convertible stock and sold 1,000 shares of the new class of convertible preferred stock. Each share of the convertible preferred stock will convert into one share of common
stock and will be non-voting other than with respect to Proposal 1 – approval of an amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, to effect a reverse stock split of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares of Common
Stock, at a ratio of one (1) share of Common Stock for every twenty-five (25) shares of Common Stock, for which each share of convertible preferred stock will be entitled to 5,000,000 votes per share in the same proportion as the
aggregate shares of Common Stock vote. The holders of the convertible preferred stock have no discretion as to how to vote the shares. Any vote of the convertible preferred stock as structured will reflect the same proportion of the
vote of the common shareholders so that the intent of the shareholders who vote can be realized.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following information should be read together with the financial statements and the notes thereto and other information included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “Report”) and in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2021, as filed with the SEC on September 28, 2021 (the “Annual Report”). Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this Report to “iBio,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” and
similar terms mean iBio, Inc.
Forward-Looking Statements
This Report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”). For this purpose, any statements contained herein regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, future revenues, projected costs and expenses, prospects, plans and objectives of management, other than
statements of historical facts, are forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “may,” “plan,” “will,” “would” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all
forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. Such statements reflect our current views with respect to future events. Because these forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties, actual
results, performance or achievements could differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements for a number of important reasons, including those discussed in this “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere in this Report, as well as in the section titled “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Report. We cannot guarantee any future results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those described in this Report as anticipated,
believed, estimated or expected. The forward-looking statements contained in this Report represent our estimates as of the date of this Report (unless another date is indicated) and should not be relied upon as representing our
expectations as of any other date. While we may elect to update these forward-looking statements, we specifically disclaim any obligation to do so unless otherwise required by securities laws.
Overview
We are a developer of next-generation biopharmaceuticals and the pioneer of the sustainable FastPharming Manufacturing System. We are applying our technologies to research and develop novel product candidates to treat or prevent
fibrotic diseases, cancers, and infectious diseases. We use our FastPharming Manufacturing System (“FastPharming” or the “FastPharming System”) and Glycaneering Services to help rapidly and cost effectively build a portfolio of
biologic drug candidates, as well as to create proteins for others by contract or via the Company’s catalog.
The FastPharming System is our proprietary approach to plant-made pharmaceutical and recombinant protein production. It uses hydroponically grown, transiently-transfected plants, (typically Nicotiana benthamiana, a relative of the
tobacco plant), novel expression vectors, a large-scale transient transfection method, and other technologies that can be used to produce complex therapeutic proteins emerging from our own, our clients’ and our potential clients’
pipelines. We believe the FastPharming System enables biologics production that is potentially faster, more cost-effective and more environmentally friendly than other approaches.
We operate in two categories: (i) Biopharmaceuticals: our biologics development and licensing segment which is focused on drug development in two primary areas: Therapeutics (currently Fibrosis and Oncology) and Vaccines (for
humans and animals), and (ii) Bioprocessing: focused on two business lines: Services and Research & Bioprocess Products (“RBP”).
Biopharmaceuticals:
We are currently focused on developing candidates in the following disease areas:
Fibrotic Diseases
Fibrosis is a pathological disorder in which connective tissue replaces normal parenchymal tissue to the extent that it goes unchecked, leading to considerable tissue remodeling and the formation of permanent scar tissue.
Fibrosis can occur in many tissues within the body, including the lungs (e.g., idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (“IPF”) and skin (e.g., systemic scleroderma). Our endostatin E4 molecule, IBIO-100, is being evaluated for fibrotic
diseases.
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Oncology
Our oncology efforts seek to identify therapeutics to aid in the treatment of cancer. Although there are a large number of cancer treatments available, there are few cures, and significant unmet medical need still exists for most
types of cancer for improved treatments. Cancer remains the second most frequent cause of death worldwide. New research in oncology, especially that related to means to boost or support the patient’s immune system to treat
cancer, is leading to a number of new treatments and new research programs with the potential to further improve cancer therapies. Our IL-2 sparing anti-CD25 antibody, IBIO-101, is being evaluated in the treatment of solid
tumors. Further, our endostatin E4 molecule, IBIO-100, is being evaluated in solid tumors. In addition, we have four additional oncology drug candidates in early development. The targets for these candidates have not been
disclosed.
Our Glycaneering Technology enables the development of afucosylated recombinant proteins. Greater antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity (“ADCC”) is often associated with such afucosylated proteins. Thus, our
Glycaneering Services can be used by the Company or its clients to potentially develop more potent cancer therapies.
Infectious Disease
Human Health: SARS-CoV-2
Coronavirus disease 2019 is an infectious disease caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) (“COVID”). It was first identified in December 2019 in Wuhan, Hubei, China, and has resulted
in an ongoing pandemic. Common symptoms include fever, cough, fatigue, shortness of breath or breathing difficulties, and loss of smell and taste. Some people develop acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), possibly
precipitated by cytokine dysregulation, multi-organ failure, septic shock, and blood clots. Our nucleocapsid, antigen-based, intramuscularly-delivered vaccine candidate, IBIO-202. Following review of its investigational new
drug (“IND”) submission to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) in January, we are moving forward with IND-enabling challenge studies for IBIO-202.
Animal Health: Classical Swine Fever
Classical swine fever (“CSF”) is a contagious, often fatal disease affecting both feral and domesticated pigs. Outbreaks in Europe, Asia, Africa, and South America have not only adversely impacted animal health and food
security but have also had severe socioeconomic impacts on both the pig industry worldwide and small-scale pig farming. Currently available vaccines can be efficient at triggering rapid animal immune response and
protecting swine populations when combined with culling of infected pigs, but do not allow the differentiation of infected from vaccinated animals (“DIVA”), nor are they approved for use in the United States. The
development of fully approved, DIVA-compatible, and efficacious vaccines represent an opportunity to prevent the economic impacts of a CSF outbreak including supply disruptions, export restrictions and reduced food
security. Our E2 protein subunit candidate, IBIO-400, is being evaluated as a vaccine to prevent CSF.

37

Table of Contents

Our current portfolio of Biopharmaceutical products consists of the following:

Bioprocessing:
Services
We utilize our FastPharming and Glycaneering intellectual property, Bioanalytics and process development capabilities, and cGMP manufacturing facility to provide development and manufacturing services on a contract
basis.
Research & Bioprocess Products
We are developing proteins for use in cutting-edge research and cGMP manufacturing where the demand for high-quality products continues to evolve. We offer recombinant proteins for third parties on a catalog and custom
basis. These catalog products can lead to opportunities to provide CDMO services or identify in-licensing opportunities for our proprietary biotech pipeline.
Recent Developments
IBIO-202 COVID Vaccine
Investigational New Drug (“IND”)-enabling challenge studies of IBIO-202, our second-generation vaccine candidate for multi-variant COVID-19 disease, are underway and proceeding as planned. Assuming favorable study outcomes,
iBio plans to file an IND application with U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) before the end of calendar 2022.
Separately, iBio continues to evaluate the feasibility of intradermal delivery of its vaccine candidates, including its SARS-CoV-2 nucleocapsid antigen, through its work with a leading innovator of microarray patch systems.
IBIO-101
iBio continues to develop its IL-2 sparing anti-CD25 antibody, IBIO-101, on the FastPharming Platform. Comparability studies have demonstrated that by applying the Company’s Glycaneering Technology, the FastPharming System
produces a potent, high-quality, afucosylated molecule that is equal to, or better than, the same version of the antibody produced with traditional mammalian cell culture manufacturing methods.
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The Company announced today that it has completed the Lead Optimization stage in the development of IBIO-101 and has entered the IND-Enabling stage. An IND for IBIO-101 is expected before the end of Q2 of calendar 2023.
IBIO-100
Our endostatin E4 molecule for fibrotic diseases (IBIO-100) is subject to an exclusive, worldwide license to certain patents and related intellectual property granted to it by the University of Pittsburgh. In February 2022, the parties
signed an amended license agreement that extends a number of milestone-related deadlines as follows: filing an investigational new drug application by December 31, 2023, enrollment of first patient in a Phase 1 clinical trial by June
30, 2024, enrollment of first patient in a Phase 2 clinical trial by September 30, 2025, enrollment of first patient in a Phase 3 clinical trial by September 30, 2028 and filing of a Biologics License Application or foreign equivalent by
March 31, 2032. In addition, the milestone payments were amended to aggregate $1,900,000. Given the additional flexibility provided by the amended agreement, and in support of our efforts to extend our cash runway, we will
continue to appropriately pace the progression of IBIO-100 through the lead optimization stage.
Oncology Discovery Programs
We continue to advance our other oncology discovery programs. Initial data from the evaluation of the potential anti-cancer effects of the Company’s endostatin E4 molecule in combination with other cancer treatments upon fibrotic
tumors is expected in the second half of calendar year 2022.
Initial data from the evaluation of the potential anti-cancer effects of the Company’s endostatin E4 molecule in combination with other cancer treatments upon fibrotic tumors is expected in the second half of calendar year 2022.
IBIO-400
Data analysis from the immunogenicity study of IBIO-400 has confirmed intramuscular injection is the preferred route of administration for the Company’s vaccine candidate for Classical Swine Fever. Updated efficacy protocols,
manufacturing processes, and validation plans were submitted to the U.S. Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) during the quarter to enable manufacturing clearance of pre-license lots for studies material to licensure. Given that
regulatory review can be lengthier for first time applicants, iBio is estimating a response from the USDA on the submission within approximately12 months.
Bioprocessing
Pursuant to a second Statement of Work (“SOW”) under an existing Master Joint Development Agreement between iBio and Safi Biosolutions, Inc., iBio will assist Safi in its efforts related to the USU 4D Bio3 On-Demand Blood
program, funded by the Defense Health Program (DHP), by utilizing the FastPharming system to make one of the most critical reagents used in the production of Safi’s manufactured Red Blood Cells (mRBCs).
Reverse Stock Split and Authorized Share Decrease Proposals
At the 2021 Annual Meeting, we sought approval of an amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, to effect a reverse stock split of our issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock, at a ratio of one (1) share of
Common Stock for every ten (10) shares of Common Stock (the “Reverse Stock Split Proposal”), and an amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, to decrease, concurrent with and conditioned upon the effectiveness
of the Reverse Stock Split, the number of authorized shares of our Common Stock from 275,000,000 to 55,000,000 (the “Authorized Decrease Proposal”).
Although approximately 65% of the shares voted (including abstentions and withheld votes) were voted in favor of the Reserve Stock Split Proposal and approximately 68% of the shares voted (including abstentions and withheld
votes) were voted in favor of the Authorized Decrease Proposal, we did not have the requisite stockholder votes to approve the proposals.
On May 12, 2022 we filed a preliminary proxy and announced that we will be holding a special meeting of shareholders on June 30th to vote on three proposals recommended by the Board: (i) Proposal 1 – approval of an amendment
to our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, to effect a reverse stock split of our issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock, at a ratio of one (1) share of Common Stock for every twenty-five (25) shares of Common Stock
(the “Reverse Stock Split”), (ii) Proposal 2 – approval of an amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, to decrease, concurrent with and conditioned upon the effectiveness of the Reverse Stock Split, the number of
authorized shares of our Common Stock from 275,000,000 to 22,000,000, and (iii) Proposal 3 – an adjournment of
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the meeting in order to permit further solicitation and vote of proxies in the event that there are insufficient votes for, or otherwise in connection with, the approval of the other two proposals.
On May 9, 2022, we designated a new class of convertible stock and sold 1,000 shares of the new class of convertible preferred stock. Each share of the convertible preferred stock will convert into one share of common stock and will
be non-voting other than with respect to Proposal 1 for which each share of convertible preferred stock will be entitled to 5,000,000 votes per share in the same ratio as the underlying common stock votes. The holders of the
convertible preferred stock have no discretion as to how to vote the shares. Any vote of the convertible preferred stock as structured will reflect the same proportion of the vote of the common shareholders so that the intent of the
shareholders who vote can be realized.
Amendment to Bylaws
On January 26, 2022, our Board of Directors (the “Board”) adopted the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws to provide that the holders of one-third of our shares of the capital stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at all
meetings of the stockholders will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.
In addition, the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws now include a new exclusive forum selection clause. The provision provides that unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and
exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our
stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Company Law, or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall be a state or federal court
located within the state of Delaware, in all cases subject to the court’s having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants. In addition, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum,
the federal district courts of the United States of America will, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act;
however, this provision does not apply to claims arising exclusively under the Exchange Act, or the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.
Facility Purchase
On November 1, 2021, we purchased the manufacturing facility (the “Facility”) we had previously operated under a lease from two affiliates of Eastern Capital Limited (the “Eastern Affiliates”). We also acquired the approximate 30%
equity interest (after conversion) in iBio CDMO held by the Eastern Affiliates, became the lessee under the ground lease for the property upon which the Facility is located and terminated the Sublease we had entered into with the
Eastern Affiliates. As a result, the subsidiary and its intellectual property are now wholly owned by us. The total purchase price for the Facility, the termination of the Sublease and other agreements among the parties, and the equity
described below is $28,750,000, which was paid $28,000,000 in cash and by the issuance to Bryan Capital Investors LLC, an affiliate of the Eastern Affiliates a five-year warrant to purchase 1,289,581 shares of our common stock at an
exercise price of $1.33 per share. In connection with the purchase of the Facility, we entered into a Credit Agreement, dated November 1, 2021 (the “Credit Agreement”), with Woodforest National Bank (“Woodforest”) pursuant to
which Woodforest provided iBio CDMO a $22,375,000 secured term loan (the “Term Loan”) to purchase the Facility, which Term Loan is evidenced by a Term Note (the “Term Note”). The Term Loan was advanced in full on the
closing date. The Term Loan bears interest at a rate of 3.25%, with higher interest rates upon an event of default, which interest is payable monthly beginning November 5, 2021. Principal on the Term Loan is payable on November 1,
2023, subject to early termination upon events of default. The Term Loan provides that it may be prepaid by iBio CDMO at any time and provides for mandatory prepayment upon certain circumstances. The Term Loan is secured by a
lien on all of the assets of iBio CDMO and we guaranteed payments of the obligations owed under the Term Loan. See Note 5 for more detail.
This Transaction provided us strategic, operational, and financial flexibility. Resolving the relationship with the Seller provided clarity on technological and operational ownership so we can continue growing our team in Texas, as well
as driving further adoption of FastPharming as the green alternative to traditional mammalian cell culture bioproduction around the globe. The Transaction also enabled us to explore entering a sale-leaseback transaction that, if
successful, would provide non-dilutive capital that could be used to expand the facility.
Results of Operations - Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Revenue
Revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were approximately $1.9 million and $0.8 million respectively, an increase of approximately $1.1 million. We expect revenue to be variable, quarter to quarter since we
are currently dependent on a small number of customers and revenue recognition often occurs when a task or job is entirely complete. We recognized 100% of revenues
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generated during the three months ended March 31, 2022 from three customers. The increase in revenue was the result of $1.8 million (93%) of revenue that was generated from royalty revenue recognized in February 2022 for the
technology license with Fraunhofer (see Note 18. Fraunhofer Settlement for more detail). 100% of revenue in Q3 2021 was generated from three customers, one of whom represented 92% of the revenue.
Gross Profit
Gross profit for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 was $1.9 million and $0.3 million, respectively, an increase of approximately $1.6 million. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue was 97.5% for the three months
ended March 31, 2022, and 35.6% for the three months ended March 31, 2021. The increase in gross profit percentage was due to the 100% gross margin on royalty revenue related to the license with Fraunhofer.
Research and Development Expenses (“R&D”)
Research and development expenses for the three months ended March 31 2022 and 2021 were $5.6 million and $2.2 million, respectively, an increase of approximately $3.4 million. The increase was primarily related to increases in
personnel and other expenses to support our development of a portfolio of proprietary therapeutics and vaccines, the investment into the San Diego facility and investments into our pipeline including IBIO-101 and IBIO-202.
General and Administrative Expenses (“G&A”)
General and administrative expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were approximately $8.5 million and $5.3 million, respectively, an increase of $3.2 million. The increase resulted primarily from an increase in
headcount and consulting costs to increase production capability and support the portfolio of proprietary therapeutics and vaccines.
Total Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses, consisting primarily of R&D and G&A expenses, for the three months ended March 31, 2022, were approximately $14.1 million, compared to approximately $7.5 million in the same period of 2021.
Total Other Income (Expense)
iBio CDMO’s operations take place in a facility in Bryan, Texas. Until November 1, 2021, the Facility was operated under a 34-year lease (the “Sublease”) with the second affiliate of another affiliate of Eastern Capital Limited
(“Eastern”), a stockholder of the Company (the “Second Eastern Affiliate”). Such Sublease is accounted for as a finance lease and included in Other Income.
Total Other Income (expense) for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 was approximately ($0.2) million and ($0.5) million respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2022, Total Other Income (expense) included
interest expense of approximately ($0.3) million primarily related to the Term Loan with Woodforest for the Facility. For the three months ended March 31, 2021, Total Other Income (expense) primarily included interest expense of
approximately ($0.6) million incurred under the finance lease.
Net Loss Attributable to iBio, Inc. Stockholders
Net loss attributable to iBio, Inc. stockholders for the three months ended March 31, 2022, was ($12.4) million, or ($0.06) per share. Net loss available to iBio, Inc. stockholders for the three months ended March 31, 2021, was
approximately ($7.7) million or ($0.04) per share.
Results of Operations - Comparison of the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Revenue
Revenues for the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were approximately $2.3 million and $1.9 million respectively, an increase of approximately $0.4 million. We expect revenue to be variable, quarter to quarter since we
are currently dependent on a small number of customers and revenue recognition often occurs when a task or job is entirely complete. We recognized 100% of revenues generated during the nine months ended March 31, 2022 from
eight customers. $1.8 million (78%) of the revenue came from recognizing royalty revenue for the technology license with Fraunhofer (see Note 18. Fraunhofer Settlement for more detail). 100% of revenue came from five customers
in the comparable period of 2021, one of whom represented 47% of the revenue.
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Gross Profit
Gross profit for the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 was $2.1 million and $0.6 million respectively, an increase of approximately $1.5 million. Gross profit percentage was 91.3% for the nine months ended
March 31, 2022, and 32.2% for the nine months ended March 31, 2021. The increase in gross profit percentage was largely due to the 100% gross margin on royalty revenue related to the license with Fraunhofer.
Research and Development Expenses (“R&D”)
Research and development expenses for the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were $11.4 million and $6.9 million respectively, an increase of approximately $4.5 million. The increase was primarily related to increases in
personnel and other expenses to support our development of a portfolio of proprietary therapeutics and vaccines, the investment into the San Diego facility and investments into our pipeline including for IBIO-101 and IBIO-202
General and Administrative Expenses (“G&A”)
General and administrative expenses for the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were approximately $23.5 million and $15.4 million respectively, an increase of $8.1 million. The increase resulted primarily from an increase
in headcount and consulting costs to increase production capability and support the portfolio of proprietary therapeutics and vaccines.
Total Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses, consisting primarily of R&D and G&A expenses, for the nine months ended March 31, 2022, were approximately $34.9 million, compared to approximately $22.3 million in the same period of 2021.
Total Other Income (Expense)
iBio CDMO’s operations take place in a facility in Bryan, Texas. Until November 1, 2021, the Facility was operated under a 34-year lease (the "Sublease") with the second affiliate of another affiliate of Eastern Capital Limited
(“Eastern”), a stockholder of the Company (the “Second Eastern Affiliate”). Such Sublease was accounted for as a finance lease and included in Other Income.
Total Other Income (expense) for the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 was approximately ($0.5) million and ($1.7) million respectively. For the nine months ended March 31, 2022, Total Other Income (expense) primarily
included interest expense of approximately ($1.2) million incurred under the finance lease offset by $0.6 million of Forgiveness of note payable. For the nine months ended March 31, 2021, Total Other Income (expense) primarily
included interest expense of approximately ($1.8) million incurred under the finance lease.
Net Loss Attributable to iBio, Inc. Stockholders
Net loss attributable to iBio, Inc. stockholders for the nine months ended March 31, 2022, was approximately ($33.3) million, or ($0.15) per share. Net loss available to iBio, Inc. stockholders for the nine months ended
March 31, 2021, was approximately ($23.5) million or ($0.12) per share.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of March 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents plus debt securities of approximately $54.5 million, including $5.9 million of restricted cash, as compared to $97.0 million as of June 30, 2021. Based on assumptions related to
its business, including the sale-leaseback of the Bryan facility and collection of money owed to iBio by Fraunhofer among others, Management believes the Company has adequate cash to support the Company’s activities through at
least September 30, 2023.
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
Net cash used in operating activities was approximately ($26.0) million for the nine months ended March 31, 2022. The use of cash was primarily attributable to funding our net loss for the period.
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities of approximately ($5.6) million for the nine months ended March 31, 2022, was attributable primarily to the purchase of ($5.5) million of debt securities offset by the redemption of debt securities of
$9.7 million, the purchase of
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fixed assets of ($3.9) million and the agreements entered into with RubrYc Therapeutics, Inc. which resulted in the purchase of equity securities of ($1.8) million and additions of intangible assets of ($4.3) million. Refer to Note 5 –
Significant Transactions for details.
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities during the nine months ended December 31, 2022, was approximately ($6.1) million and mainly attributable to the Payment of Finance Lease Obligations related to the purchase of the
manufacturing facility of ($5.8) million and ($0.3) million in Costs to attain term note.
Funding Requirements
We have incurred significant losses and negative cash flows from operations since our spin-off from Integrated BioPharma in August 2008. As of March 31, 2022, our accumulated deficit was approximately $ (206.9) million and we
used approximately ($26.0) million of cash for operating activities during the nine months ended March 31, 2022.
Based on management projections including assumptions regarding the sale-leaseback of the Bryan facility and the payment of money owed to iBio by Fraunhofer among others and on the total cash and cash equivalents plus
investments in debt securities of approximately $57.4 million including restricted cash of $5.9 million as of December 31, 2021, management believes the Company has adequate cash to support the Company’s activities through at
least September 30, 2023.
We plan to fund our future business operations using existing cash and liquid resources, through proceeds realized in connection with the commercialization of our technologies and proprietary products, government grants, license and
collaboration arrangements relating to the operation of iBio CDMO, and through proceeds from the sale of additional equity or other securities. Although we have been successful in raising capital during the past year, we cannot be
certain that such funding will be available in the future on favorable terms or at all. We also plan to explore potential longer-term financing options for our Facility, including, but not limited to, a potential sale-leaseback transaction. We
anticipate that expenses will increase as we further expand our operations, including our planned establishment of drug discovery capabilities in San Diego, California. In addition, further product development is also expected to
increase expenses, including but not limited to the advancing IBIO-100, IBIO-101, IBIO-202, IBIO-400 and additional immune-oncology pipeline products in fiscal 2022. To the extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity
securities, our stockholders may experience significant dilution. If we are unable to raise funds when required or on favorable terms, this assumption may no longer be operative, and we may have to: a) significantly delay, scale back,
or discontinue the product application and/or commercialization of our proprietary technologies; b) seek collaborators for our technology and product candidates on terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available; c)
relinquish or otherwise dispose of rights to technologies, product candidates, or products that we would otherwise seek to develop or commercialize; or d) possibly cease operations.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As part of our ongoing business, we do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities
(SPEs), which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually limited purposes. As of March 31, 2022, we were not involved in any SPE transactions.
Critical Accounting Estimates
A critical accounting policy is one that is both important to the portrayal of a company’s financial condition and results of operations and requires management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the
need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.
Our condensed consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and all applicable U.S. GAAP accounting standards effective as of March 31, 2022, have been taken into consideration in preparing the
condensed consolidated financial statements. The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements requires estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and related
disclosures. Some of those estimates are subjective and complex, and, consequently, actual results could differ from those estimates. The following accounting policies and estimates have been highlighted as significant because
changes to certain judgments and assumptions inherent in these policies could affect our condensed consolidated financial statements:
●

Valuation of intellectual property;
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●

Revenue recognition;

●

Liquidity assertions;

●

Useful lives of fixed assets;

●

Lease accounting;

●

Legal and contractual contingencies;

●

Research and development expenses; and

●

Share-based compensation expenses.

We base our estimates, to the extent possible, on historical experience. Historical information is modified as appropriate based on current business factors and various assumptions that we believe are necessary to form a basis for
making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities. We evaluate our estimates on an on-going basis and make changes when necessary. Actual results could differ from our estimates.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item 3.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, under the direction of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act, as amended, as of March 31, 2022. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are also designed to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to management to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
Based on our evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2022.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, during the quarter ended March 31, 2022, that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
We are not currently subject to any material legal proceedings.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Our business is subject to risks and events that, if they occur, could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations and the trading price of our securities. The following information updates, and should be read in
conjunction with, the information disclosed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” contained in the Annual Report. Except as described below, our risk factors as of the date of this Report have not changed materially from those described
in “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors” of our Annual Report.
We have incurred significant losses since our inception. We expect to incur losses during our next fiscal year and may never achieve or maintain profitability.
Since our 2008 spinoff from Integrated BioPharma, we have incurred operating losses and negative cash flows from operations. Our net loss attributable to iBio Inc. was approximately $23.2 million and $16.4 million for 2021 and
2020 and approximately $12.4 million and $7.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and approximately $33.3 million and $23.5 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. As of March 31, 2022, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately ($206.9) million.
To date, we have financed our operations primarily through the sale of common stock, preferred stock, warrants and securing a Term Loan. We have devoted substantially all of our efforts to research and development, including the
development and validation of our technologies, our CDMO facilities, and the development of a proprietary therapeutic product against fibrosis and COVID-19 vaccines based upon our technologies. We have not completed
development of or commercialized any vaccine or therapeutic product candidates. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and may incur operating losses for at least the next year. We anticipate that our expenses and losses
will increase substantially if we:
●
●
●
●

initiate clinical trials of our product candidates;
continue the research and development of our product candidates;
seek to discover or license in additional product candidates; and
add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our product development and manufacturing efforts.

Our profitability in large part depends on our research and development programs and our ability to successfully develop and commercialize our product candidates and to a lesser extent, our ability to generate revenue from our iBio
CDMO services. This will require us, alone or with our licensees and collaborators, to be successful in a range of challenging activities, including completing preclinical testing and clinical trials of our product candidates, obtaining
regulatory approval for these product candidates and manufacturing, marketing and selling those products for which regulatory approval is obtained or establishing collaborations with parties willing and able to provide necessary
capital or other value. We may never succeed in these activities. We may never generate revenues that are significant or large enough to achieve profitability.
Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable would diminish the value of our company and could impair our
ability to raise capital, expand our business, diversify our product offerings or continue our operations. A decline in the value of our company could also cause an investor to lose all or part of their investment.
We need additional funding to fully execute our business plan, which funding may not be available on commercially acceptable terms or at all. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we may be forced to delay, reduce or
eliminate the commercialization of our development and manufacturing services and efforts for our product development programs. Our estimates of our future funding needs are based upon assumptions, which may not be
accurate or come true.
We will need additional capital to fully implement our current long-term business, operating and development plans. To the extent that we initiate or continue clinical development without securing collaborator or licensee funding, our
research and development expenses could increase substantially.
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When we elect to raise additional funds or additional funds are required, we may raise such funds from time to time through public or private equity offerings, debt financings, corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements or
other financing alternatives. Additional equity or debt financing or corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. We currently have no committed sources of funding. On
November 25, 2020, we entered into a Controlled Equity Offering SM Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. ("Cantor Fitzgerald") to sell shares of common stock, from time to time, through an “at the
market offering” program having an aggregate offering price of up to $100,000,000 through which Cantor Fitzgerald would act as sales agent (the “Sales Agent”). There can be no assurance that we will meet the requirements to be
able to sell securities pursuant to the Sales Agreement, or if we meet the requirements that we will be able to raise sufficient funds on favorable terms. If we are unable to raise capital in sufficient amounts when needed or on attractive
terms, we would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or commercialization efforts and our ability to generate revenues and achieve or sustain profitability will be substantially harmed.
Given that our cash, cash equivalents and investments in debt securities as of March 31, 2022, was approximately $48.6 million excluding $5.9 million in restricted cash, we believe we have adequate cash to support our current
operations; however, in order to implement our long term operating plans, we will need to raise additional funds. We plan to fund our future business operations using cash on hand, through proceeds realized in connection with the
commercialization of our technologies and proprietary products (which is not anticipated to be generated, if ever, in the near future), license and collaboration arrangements related to the operation of iBio CDMO, and through proceeds
from the sale of additional equity or other securities. We cannot be certain that such funding will be available on favorable terms or available at all. To the extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our
stockholders may experience significant dilution.
We have based this projection on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, in which case we may deplete our cash resources sooner than we currently anticipate. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:
●

the costs of operating our business including operating our facility, investing in our drug development pipeline, and investing in our CDMO business;

●

the revenue and the outlicensing gains if any our business can generate;

●

the financing of our business including the potential sales-leaseback of our facility;

●

the collection of receivables from the Fraunhofer settlement and license fee; and

●

the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products and technologies.

If the assumptions set forth above prove to be wrong, we may need to raise capital sooner than anticipated. If we are unable to raise funds when required or on favorable terms, this assumption may no longer be operative, and we may
have to: a) significantly delay, scale back, or discontinue the product application and/or commercialization of our proprietary technologies; b) seek collaborators for our technology and product candidates on terms that are less
favorable than might otherwise be available; c) relinquish or otherwise dispose of rights to technologies, product candidates, or products that we would otherwise seek to develop or commercialize; or d) possibly cease operations.
We may not have an adequate number of shares of common stock authorized to enable us to complete future equity financing transactions or strategic transactions, which may adversely affect our ability to grow and develop.
We are authorized to issue 275,000,000 shares of Common Stock, of which approximately 218,165,624 shares of Common Stock were issued and outstanding as March 31, 2022. At March 31, 2022, 36 million common shares were
reserved for issuance of shares upon exercise of outstanding options or reserved for future issuance of common shares under our equity incentive plans. If all of these securities were exercised it would leave approximately 21 million
authorized but unissued shares of common stock.
As a result of our limited number of our authorized and unissued shares of Common Stock, we may have insufficient shares of Common Stock available to issue in connection with any future equity financing transactions or strategic
transactions we may seek to undertake. Accordingly, we will likely take steps in the near future to increase our number of available shares, which may include seeking stockholder approval of an increase in our authorized number of
shares of common stock or a reverse stock split. At our annual meeting of stockholders held on December 9, 2020, we sought but did not obtain approval of an increase in our authorized number of shares of common stock from
275,000,000 to 425,000,000. At the 2021 Annual Meeting, we sought but did not obtain approval of a reverse stock split which if effected would have resulted in additional shares of unissued authorized Common Stock becoming
available for issuance but did not obtain approval to effect a reverse stock split. Although we have filed a preliminary proxy statement for a special meeting
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of stockholders to seek approval of a reverse stock split which if effected would have resulted in additional shares of unissued authorized Common Stock becoming available for issuance, there can be no assurance that such approval
will be obtained at such special meeting of stockholders. If not, we may need to rely on debt for growth capital (which may be limited due to current covenants in the Credit Agreement) or take other steps necessary to raise capital or
reduce operations.
Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or product candidates.
Until such time as we can generate substantial development, manufacturing, license or product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of equity offerings, collaborations, strategic alliances, service
contracts, manufacturing contracts, facility build-out and technology transfer contracts, licensing and other arrangements. Sources of funds may not be available or, if available, may not be available on terms satisfactory to us.
If we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stockholders will experience dilution. Debt financing, if available, would result in increased fixed payment obligations and may involve agreements that include covenants
limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. Any debt financing or additional equity that we raise may contain terms, such as
liquidation and other preferences, which are not favorable to us or our stockholders. If we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements with third parties, it may be necessary to relinquish valuable rights to
our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. Should the financing we require to sustain our working capital needs be unavailable or
prohibitively expensive when we require it, our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects could be materially and adversely affected, and we may be unable to continue our operations.
To the extent that we raise additional capital through a public or private offering and sale of equity securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that
adversely affect your rights as a stockholder. We are authorized to issue 275,000,000 shares of common stock, of which at March 31, 2022, approximately 218,165,624 shares of common stock were issued and outstanding and 36
million common shares were reserved for issuance of shares upon exercise of outstanding options or reserved for future issuance of common shares under our equity incentive plans. If all of these securities were exercised it would
leave approximately 21 million authorized but unissued shares of common stock. Accordingly, we will be able to issue up to approximately 21 million additional shares of common stock and approximately 1 million shares of preferred
stock based on our current authorized number of shares of common stock. Sales of our common stock offered through current or future equity offerings may result in substantial dilution to our stockholders. The sale of a substantial
number of shares of our common stock to investors, or anticipation of such sales, could make it more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and at a price that we might otherwise wish to effect
sales.
The failure to comply with the terms of the Credit Agreement could result in a default under the terms of the Credit Agreement and, if uncured, it could potentially result in action against our pledged assets.
There is no assurance that iBio CDMO or we will generate sufficient revenue or raise sufficient capital to be able to make the required principal payment under the Term Loan in the principal amount of $22,375,000 that iBio CDMO
entered into with Woodforest National Bank. The Term Loan with Woodforest National Bank is secured by (a) a leasehold deed of trust on our sole manufacturing facility (the “Facility”), (b) a letter of credit issued by JPMorgan Chase
Bank and (c) a first lien on all assets of iBio CDMO including the Facility. We have also guaranteed the payment of all iBio CDMO’s obligations under the Credit Agreement. If we or iBio CDMO fails to comply with the terms of the
Term Loans and/or the related agreements, Woodforest National Bank could declare a default and if the default were to remain uncured, Woodforest National Bank would have the right to proceed against any or all of the collateral
securing their Term Loan. Our failure to make such payments when due could result in our loss of the Facility, upon which our manufacturing is based. Any action to proceed against our assets would likely have a serious disruptive
effect on our business operations, especially if the Facility were foreclosed upon.
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The Credit Agreement requires that we pay a significant amount of cash to the lender. Our ability to generate sufficient cash to make all required payments under the Credit Agreement depends on many factors beyond our
control.
Our ability to make payments on and to refinance the Term Loan, to fund planned capital expenditures and to maintain sufficient working capital depends on our ability to raise capital and generate cash in the future. This, to a certain
extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control. We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations or from other
sources in an amount sufficient to enable us to service our debt or to fund our other liquidity needs. To date, we have generated minimal revenue and have financed a significant portion our capital needs from sales of our equity and
most recently the Term Loan. There can be no assurance that financing options will be available to us when needed to make payments under the Term Loan or if available, that they will be on favorable terms. If our cash flow and
capital resources are insufficient to allow us to make payments due under the Term Loan, we may need to seek additional capital or restructure or refinance all or a portion of the Term Loan on or before the maturity thereof, any of
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Although we plan to explore potential longer-term financing options for our Facility, including, but not limited to, a potential
sale-leaseback transaction, we cannot assure you that we will be able to enter in a sale-leaseback transaction or refinance the Term Loan on commercially reasonable terms or at all. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow to
repay or refinance our debt on favorable terms, it could significantly adversely affect our financial condition. Our ability to restructure or refinance the Term Loan will depend on the condition of the capital markets and our financial
condition. Any refinancing of the term Loan could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. There can be no assurance that we will be
able to obtain any financing when needed.
Covenant restrictions in the Credit Agreement may limit our ability to operate our business.
The Credit Agreement contains, and our future indebtedness agreements may contain covenants that restrict our ability to finance future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities. The Credit Agreement
requires maintaining $10,000,000 of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and restricts iBio CDMO’s ability to:
●

incur, assume or guarantee additional Debt (as defined in the Credit Agreement);

●

repurchase capital stock;

●

make other restricted payments including, without limitation, paying dividends and making investments;

●

create Liens (as defined in the Credit Agreement); and

●

sell or otherwise dispose of assets.
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If we are found to have failed to comply with our obligations in the agreements under which we license intellectual property rights from third parties or otherwise experience disruptions to our business relationships with our
licensors, we could lose intellectual property rights that are important to our business.
We are a party to an exclusive license agreement with University of Pittsburgh, as well as a non-exclusive license agreement with the University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, and an exclusive license agreement with
RubrYc and a collaboration, option and license agreement with RubrYc and may need to obtain additional licenses from others to advance our research and development activities or allow the commercialization of our lead products or
other product candidates that we may identify. Our license agreements impose, and we expect that future license agreements will impose, various development, diligence, commercialization, and other obligations on us. Our prospects
for our fibrosis product candidate (IBIO-100), which is now one of our primary focuses, is significantly dependent upon our license agreement with the University of Pittsburgh. The license grants us exclusive, worldwide rights to
certain existing patents and related intellectual property that cover fibrosis. If we breach the terms of the license, including any failure to make minimum royalty payments required thereunder or failure to reach certain developmental
milestones and by certain deadlines or other factors, University of Pittsburgh has the right to terminate the license. Under the terms and conditions of the license agreement, as amended, we have agreed to use our best efforts to bring
the licensed technology to market as soon as practicable, consistent with sound and reasonable business practice and judgment, and to continue active, diligent marketing efforts for the licensed technology throughout the term of this
Agreement. In addition, this license agreement, as amended sets forth the following specific milestone completion deadlines: filing an investigational new drug application by December 31, 2023, enrollment of first patient in a Phase 1
clinical trial by June 30, 2024, enrollment of first patient in a Phase 2 clinical trial by September 30, 2025, enrollment of first patient in a Phase 3 clinical trial by September 30, 2028 and filing of a Biologics License Application or
foreign equivalent by March 31, 2032. Although we intend to commence initiation of IND-enabling studies in fiscal 2022, there can be no assurance that we will complete the necessary studies in order to allow for us to file an IND by
December 31, 2023. If we were to lose or otherwise be unable to maintain the license on acceptable terms or find that it is necessary or appropriate to secure new licenses from other third parties, we may not be able to further develop
or market IBIO-100.
The commercial license with RubrYc exclusively permits us to research, develop, make, have made, manufacture, use, distribute, sell, offer for sale, import, and export antibodies in RubrYc’s RTX-003. Under the terms and conditions
of the RTX-003 License Agreement, we agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize RTX-003 antibodies. If we fail to achieve certain timing milestones for starting GMP manufacturing and dosing
human patients under an IND, we could be required to make a payment to RubrYc on the date the milestone is missed and on each anniversary of such date until the milestone is achieved, provided that the milestone was missed due to
our failure to exercise commercially reasonable efforts. If we breach the terms of the license agreement with RubrYc, RubrYc has the right to terminate the license agreement. In addition, the collaboration, option and license agreement
with RubrYc provides that in the event the option is exercised by us, we have various diligence obligations including that we will use commercially reasonable efforts to (i) develop Selected Compounds for use in pharmaceutical
products (the “Collaboration Products”); and (ii) commercialize the Collaboration Products. In addition, we are also required to meet a series of development milestones for each Collaboration Product. Failure to achieve the milestones
will result in a payment to RubrYc on the date the milestone is missed and on each anniversary of such date until the milestone is achieved, provided that the milestone was missed due to our failure to exercise commercially reasonable
efforts. If we breach the terms of the collaboration, option and license agreement with RubrYc, they have the right to terminate the license agreement.
Changes in general economic conditions, geopolitical conditions, domestic and foreign trade policies, monetary policies
and other factors beyond our control may adversely impact our business and operating results.
Our operations and performance depend on global, regional and U.S. economic and geopolitical conditions. Russia’s invasion and military attacks on Ukraine have triggered significant sanctions from U.S. and European
leaders. These events are currently escalating and creating increasingly volatile global economic conditions. Resulting changes in U.S. trade policy could trigger retaliatory actions by Russia, its allies and other affected
countries, including China, resulting in a “trade war.” Furthermore, if the conflict between Russia and Ukraine continues for a long period of time, or if other countries, including the U.S., become further involved in the conflict,
we could face significant adverse effects to our business and financial condition.
The above factors, including a number of other economic and geopolitical factors both in the U.S. and abroad, could ultimately have material adverse effects on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows, including the following:
●
●
●
●

effects of significant changes in economic, monetary and fiscal policies in the U.S. and abroad including currency fluctuations, inflationary pressures and significant income tax changes;
supply chain disruptions;
a global or regional economic slowdown in any of our market segments;
changes in government policies and regulations affecting the Company or its significant customers;
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●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

industrial policies in various countries that favor domestic industries over multinationals or that restrict foreign companies altogether;
new or stricter trade policies and tariffs enacted by countries, such as China, in response to changes in U.S. trade policies and tariffs;
postponement of spending, in response to tighter credit, financial market volatility and other factors;
rapid material escalation of the cost of regulatory compliance and litigation;
difficulties protecting intellectual property;
longer payment cycles;
credit risks and other challenges in collecting accounts receivable; and
the impact of each of the foregoing on outsourcing and procurement arrangements.

Our Second Amended and Restated Bylaws provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for certain disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to
obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.
Our Second Amended and Restated Bylaws provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, any action
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee of the Company to the Company or the Company’s stockholders, any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the
Delaware General Corporation Law or any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. The federal district courts of the United States of America shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and
exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and the forum selection provision does not apply to claims arising exclusively under the Exchange
Act or the Investment Company Act, or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.
This forum selection provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring certain claims in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or any of our directors, officers, other employees or stockholders, which may
discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims, although our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. If a court were to find this forum
selection provision to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial condition.
The issuance of preferred stock could adversely affect the rights of the holders of shares of our common stock.
Our Board of Directors is authorized to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock without any further action on the part of our stockholders. Our Board of Directors has the authority to fix and determine the voting rights, rights of
redemption and other rights and preferences of preferred stock. Currently, we have 1,000 shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding. Our Board of Directors may, at any time, designate a new series of preferred stock that would
grant to holders the preferred right to our assets upon liquidation, the right to receive dividend payments before dividends are distributed to the holders of common stock, and the right to the redemption of the shares, together with a
premium, before the redemption of our common stock and authorize the issuance of such series of preferred stock, which may have a material adverse effect on the rights of the holders of our common stock. In addition, our Board of
Directors, without further stockholder approval, may, at any time, issue large blocks of preferred stock. In addition, the ability of our Board of Directors to designate and issue shares of preferred stock without any further action on the
part of our stockholders may impede a takeover of our company and may prevent a transaction that is favorable to our stockholders.
Item 5. Other Information.
None.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
Exhibit No.

Description

3.1

Certificate of Incorporation of iBio, Inc., Certificate of Merger, Certificate of Ownership and Merger, Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 11, 2018 - File No. 001-35023)

3.2

Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of iBio, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 14, 2018 - File No. 001-35023)

3.3

Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of iBio, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 8, 2018 - File No. 001-35023)

3.4

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of iBio, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
January 26, 2022 - File No. 000-53125)

10.1+*

Third Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement, dated February 3, 2022, by and between University of Pittsburgh and iBio, Inc.

31.1*

Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

31.2*

Certification of Periodic Report by Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

32.1*

Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2*

Certification of Periodic Report by Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS

Inline XBRL Instance*

101.SCH

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema*

101.CAL

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation*

101.DEF

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition*

101.LAB

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labeled*

101.PRE

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation*

104

Cover page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

* Filed herewith.
+ Certain portions of this exhibit indicated therein by [**] have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation 8-K.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
iBio, Inc.
(Registrant)
Date:

May 12, 2022

/s/ Thomas F. Isett 3rd
Thomas F. Isett 3rd
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
Principal Executive Officer

Date:

May 12, 2022

/s/ Robert Lutz
Robert Lutz
Chief Financial Officer
Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer
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Exhibit 10.1
CERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS EXHIBIT MARKED BY [***]
HAS BEEN OMITTED BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND IS THE TYPE OF
INFORMATION THAT THE REGISTRANT TREATS AS PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL
THIRD AMENDMENT TO EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT
This THIRD AMENDMENT TO EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT (this “Third
Amendment”) is made as of February 3, 2022, by and between the University of Pittsburgh – of the
Commonwealth System of Higher Education, a non-profit corporation organized and existing under the laws of
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (“University”) and iBio, Inc., (“Licensee”).
WHEREAS, University and Licensee have previously entered into an Exclusive License Agreement
with an effective date of January 14, 2014, as previously amended by the parties on August 11, 2016, and
November 2, 2020 (the “Agreement”); and
WHEREAS, the parties wish to further amend the Agreement as set forth herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:
1.
Amendment Fee. The Licensee shall pay University an Amendment Fee in the amount of twenty-five
thousand ($25,000) dollars which shall be due immediately upon the parties’ execution of this Amendment.
2.

Amendments to Agreement.
(a) Section 3.2 (b)-(f) of the Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following:
“(b) File an Investigational New Drug application (IND) covering the Licensed Technology with
the FDA or Foreign equivalent by December 31, 2023;
(c) Enrollment of first patient in a Phase I clinical trial or foreign equivalent covering the Licensed
Technology by June 30, 2024;
(d) Enrollment of first patient in a Phase II clinical trial or foreign equivalent covering the Licensed
Technology by September 30, 2025;
(e) Enrollment of first patient in a Phase III clinical trial or foreign equivalent covering the Licensed
Technology by September 30, 2028; and
(f) Filing of the first BLA or foreign equivalent covering the Licensed Technology by March 31,
2032.”
(b) Section 4.1(b)iii of the Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following:
1

elope ID: 5B4E8F52-59EA-478B-A056-6B829A851BED

“(iii) Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) due on the eight anniversary and each subsequent anniversary
of Effective Date until the first commercial sale of Licensed Technology.”
(c) Section 4.1(d) of the Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following:
(d) Milestone payments, which shall be non-refundable and non-creditable against royalties, as follows;
“(i) [***] dosing the first patient in a Phase I clinical trial or foreign equivalent covering the
Licensed Technology;
(ii) [***] dosing the first patient in a Phase II clinical trial or foreign equivalent covering the
Licensed Technology;
(iii) [***] upon dosing the first patient in a Phase III clinical trial or foreign equivalent
covering the Licensed Technology; and
(iv) [***] following First Commercial Sale of Licensed Technology.”
3.

Miscellaneous.
(a) Except as specifically amended above, all terms of the Agreement shall remain in full force and
effect. To the extent that there are any inconsistencies between the terms of the Agreement and the
terms of this Third Amendment, the terms of this Third Amendment shall prevail in effect.
(b) The parties acknowledge that this Third Amendment and the Agreement set forth the entire
understanding and intentions of the parties hereto as to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all
previous understandings between the parties, written or oral, regarding such subject matter.
[Remainder of this page is left intentionally blank.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties represent and warrant that each has the authority to bind the party
to this Agreement and hereto have executed this Third Amendment as of the date first written above.
UNIVERSITY OF
PITTSBURGH
– OF
THE
COMMONWEALTH SYSTEM OF HIGHER EDUCATION

By /s/ Evan Facher
Evan Facher, Ph.D., MBA
Director, Innovation Institute
Vice Chancellor for Innovation and Entrepreneurship LICENSEE –
IBIO, INC.

By /s/ Martin Brenner
Name: Martin Brenner
Title: Chief Scientific Officer
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Thomas F. Isett 3rd, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 (the “report”) of iBio, Inc. (the
“registrant”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 12, 2022
By: /s/ Thomas F. Isett 3rd
Name: Thomas F. Isett 3rd
Title: Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Robert Lutz, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 (the “report”) of iBio, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 12, 2022
By: /s/ Robert Lutz
Name: Robert Lutz
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of iBio, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2022 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Thomas F. Isett 3rd , Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

Date: May 12, 2022

/s/ Thomas F. Isett 3rd
Thomas F. Isett 3rd
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of iBio, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2022 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Robert Lutz, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer) of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that to my knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: May 12, 2022

/s/ Robert Lutz
Robert Lutz
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

